

University of Tennessee, Knoxville Trace: Tennessee Research and Creative Exchange

Masters Theses

Graduate School

5-2016

Tracking Trajectories: Charting Changes of Late Archaic Shell Ring Formation and Use

Martin Peter Walker University of Tennessee - Knoxville, mwalke63@vols.utk.edu

Recommended Citation

Walker, Martin Peter, "Tracking Trajectories: Charting Changes of Late Archaic Shell Ring Formation and Use." Master's Thesis, University of Tennessee, 2016. http://trace.tennessee.edu/utk_gradthes/3816

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate School at Trace: Tennessee Research and Creative Exchange. It has been accepted for inclusion in Masters Theses by an authorized administrator of Trace: Tennessee Research and Creative Exchange. For more information, please contact trace@utk.edu.

To the Graduate Council:

I am submitting herewith a thesis written by Martin Peter Walker entitled "Tracking Trajectories: Charting Changes of Late Archaic Shell Ring Formation and Use." I have examined the final electronic copy of this thesis for form and content and recommend that it be accepted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Arts, with a major in Anthropology.

David G. Anderson, Major Professor

We have read this thesis and recommend its acceptance:

Boyce N. Driskell, Yingkui Li

Accepted for the Council: <u>Dixie L. Thompson</u>

Vice Provost and Dean of the Graduate School

(Original signatures are on file with official student records.)

Tracking Trajectories: Charting Changes of Late Archaic Shell Ring Formation and Use

A Thesis Presented for the Master of Arts Degree The University of Tennessee, Knoxville

> Martin Peter Walker May 2016

Copyright © 2016 by Martin P. Walker All Rights Reserved Dedication

To my wife

Jenny

Acknowledgements

I must begin by thanking Dr. David G. Anderson for being my committee chair, my advisor, and my friend; his constant advice, support, and encouragement have been invaluable. I would also like to thank the other members of my committee, Dr. Yingkui Li and Dr. Boyce Driskell for serving on my committee and providing both feedback and support.

A special thanks goes out to Dr. Matthew C. Sanger and Dr. David Hurst Thomas for starting me along the path that is the Late Archaic shell rings. I must also thank Lorann Pendleton Thomas, Anna Semon, Dr. Elliot Blair, Ginessa Mahar, Rachael Cajigas, Christina Friberg, Matthew Napolitano, and all of the interns and field crews of the AMNH North American Archaeology program that I have had the privilege to work with.

Thank you to Dr. Thaddeus Bissett, Megan Dennison, and Alexander Craib for letting me lean on you for support through the writing of this and for being sounding boards every time that I needed one; and to the rest of my cohort for keeping me sane (mostly). Additional thanks to Amelia Jansen for working with me through the interminable editing process.

To my parents, Graham Walker and Agnes Murray, and my brothers John and Christopher, they are the ones that have gotten me to where I am today. Without them I would not be who I am or be able to accomplish all the things that I have.

Last, but most certainly not least, I need to thank my wife Jenny Chin, words cannot do justice to the love and support that she has given me; she keeps me grounded, focused, and gives me the strength to persevere.

Abstract

For the past fifty years the shell rings of the North American, southeastern, Late Archaic period, have been a continuous object of archaeological research. They have been studied within contexts of the initial creation and use of ceramics in North America, mounding and monumentality of hunter-gatherers, early sedentism and social complexity, forager feasting, ritual, and ceremonialism, and human-environment interactions. The aim of this project was to bring together the cumulative data generated by this continuous research focus and centralize it within a single database, the Late Archaic Shell Rings Repository. In utilizing this consolidated data set, it is possible to track and map, both chronologically and geographically, behavioral traditions surrounding the shell rings. This analysis posits that there are three discernable, overarching, behavioral trajectories within the shell rings of the Late Archaic period: an early, Floridian/Gulf Coastal trajectory of an open ended, large scale, social mounding tradition; a middle Savannah River centered, proto-sedentary, freshwater shell mounding, initial ceramics producing trajectory, the Stallings culture; and a subsequent Atlantic Coastal tradition that possesses a stricter maintenance of social practices that have smaller and more circular shell rings and that incorporates the social behaviors of the shell ring building trajectory and the initial ceramic using trajectory. In collecting these data together, this analysis also is able to highlight the existing gaps within the data from the shell rings, with the aim of helping to pinpoint foci for future research.

Table of Contents

Chapter 1: Introduction	1
Chapter 2: Background	5
Ecological Setting	5
Cultural Setting: Late Archaic Period	8
Shell Ring Studies: New Beginnings	10
Big Rings, Big Power	17
Trends, Traditions, and Articulated Landscapes	19
Chapter 3: Databases and Big Data, Software and Statistical Methods	21
Databases and 'Big Data'	21
Open Source and Software Packages	25
Late Archaic Shell Ring Repository	26
Chapter 4: The Data	30
Origins of the Data	30
National Register of Historic Places & National Historic Landmark Statuses	30
Shell Ring Chronology	31
Shell Ring Material Culture	31
Ceramics	31
Lithics	34
Shell Ring Design	37
Shell Rings as Ellipses and Eccentricity Measurements	39
Design Trends of Shell Ring Shape and Size through Time	41
Chapter 5: Geospatial and Temporal Analysis of the Late Archaic Shell Rings	46
Shell Ring Origins and the Floridian/Gulf Coastal Trajectory	46
Stallings Trajectory	57
Atlantic Coastal Shell Ring Trajectory	58
Chapter 6: Conclusions and Future Directions	69
References	73
Appendix	89
Appendix A: Shell ring National Register of Historic Places and National Historic	
Landmarks status	90
Appendix B: Radiocarbon Dates from Late Archaic Shell Rings	92

Appendix C: Pottery Counts of the Late Archaic Shell Rings	107
Appendix D: Lithic Counts of the Late Archaic Shell Rings	110
Appendix E: Shape Descriptions and Major Dimensions of the Late Archaic Shell	
Rings	113
Appendix F: Calculated shell ring eccentricities	116
Appendix G: Radiocarbon Dates from the Horr's Island Mound Complex, Florida	117
Appendix H: References for individual shell rings	118
Vita	120

List of Tables

Table 2.1: Temper and decoration listings of early ceramics of the	
southeastern United States	16
Table 4.1: Number of radiocarbon dates collected for each shell ring	32
Table 4.2: Presence of lithics at shell ring sites by lithic type	35
Table 4.3: Shell Ring Projectile Point Counts	35
Table 4.4: Shell Ring Flake Count	36
Table 4.5: Additional lithic materials recovered from shell ring sites	38
Table 4.6: Florida and Gulf Coast shell ring eccentricities and major diameters grouped by	
geographical proximity	43
Table 4.7: Atlantic coast shell ring eccentricities and major diameters grouped by	
geographical proximity	45
Table A.1: NRHP and NHL Statuses of the Late Archaic Shell Rings	90
Table B.1: Radiocarbon Dates from Late Archaic Shell Rings	92
Table C.1: Pottery Counts of the Late Archaic Shell Rings	107
Table D.1: Lithic Counts of the Late Archaic Shell Rings	110
Table E.1: Shape Descriptions and Major Dimensions of the Late Archaic Shell Rings	113
Table F.1: Calculated shell ring eccentricities	116
Table G.1: Radiocarbon Dates from the Horr's Island Mound Complex, Florida	117
Table H.1: Listing of specific references for individual shell rings	118

List of Figures

Figure 1.1: Examples of North American Late Archaic shell rings noting both size and	
shape variations	2
Figure 2.1: Map illustrating the locations of all currently identified Late Archaic shell rings	6
Figure 2.2: Map illustrating the locations of the five Pleistocene shorelines of the Georgia	
coast	13
Figure 2.3: Chronological chart of the early ceramic phases of the Atlantic coastal	
plain, peninsular Florida, and the Midsouth	15
Figure 2.4: Distribution of early pottery wares along the Atlantic coastal plain	15
Figure 3.1: Screenshot of the database page of the Late Archaic Shell Ring Repository	27
Figure 4.1: Map of shell rings by ceramic types	32
Figure 4.2: Diagram of the formation of ellipses as a plane intersects a	
three-dimensional cone	40
Figure 4.3: Geometric components of an ellipse	40
Figure 4.4: Tests for correlation between shell ring eccentricity and size measurements	43
Figure 5.1: Topographic map, Horr's Island shell ring and mounds	47
Figure 5.2: Active shell ring locations in Florida and along the Gulf Coast	
between ca 4700 and ca 4500 BP	49
Figure 5.3: Active shell ring locations in Florida and along the Gulf Coast	
between ca 4500 and ca 4300 BP	50
Figure 5.4: Active shell ring locations in Florida and along the Gulf Coast	
between ca 4300 and ca 4100 BP	52
Figure 5.5: Active shell ring locations in Florida and along the Gulf Coast	
between ca 4100 and ca 3900 BP	53
Figure 5.6: Active shell ring locations in Florida and along the Gulf Coast	
between ca 3900 and ca 3700 BP	54
Figure 5.7: Active shell ring locations in Florida and along the Gulf Coast	
between ca 3700 and ca 3000 BP	55
Figure 5.8: Active shell ring locations along the Atlantic Coast between	
ca 4700 and ca 4500 BP	59
Figure 5.9: Active shell ring locations along the Atlantic Coast between	
ca 4500 and ca 4300 BP	60

Figure 5.10: A	ctive shell ring locations along the Atlantic Coast between	
ca 430	0 and ca 4100 BP	61
Figure 5.11: A	ctive shell ring locations along the Atlantic Coast between	
ca 410	0 and ca 3900 BP	64
Figure 5.12: A	ctive shell ring locations along the Atlantic Coast between	
ca 410	0 and ca 3900 BP	65

Chapter 1

Introduction

Shell rings are defined as arcuate constructions of mounded shell that possess shell-free interior plazas; shell rings can range in both shape and size. While not exclusive to North America--similarly designed shell constructions have been found in Japan and South America (Habu 2004; Oikawa and Koyama 1981)--they are still unique within North American archaeology and, more specifically, to the North American southeast. The shapes of shell rings found with the southeastern United States range from almost fully enclosed circles to open-ended ellipses, with sizes from as small as 30 meters to well over 200 meters in diameter (Figure 1). There are currently 51 sites (Appendix A) from along the coasts of South Carolina, Georgia, Florida, and Mississippi that have been identified as both shell rings and as being built during the North American Late Archaic period (5800-3200 cal yr B.P.). In addition to these defined rings, there are additional sites that could potentially also be Late Archaic shell rings; however, either the nature of the shell mound is in question (whether or not it is actually a ring of shell) or the age of the construction of the ring is in question (whether the site was constructed during the Late Archaic), with additional work being needed to help determine their statuses (Russo 2006:111). Furthermore, there are a series of shell rings that were built after the Late Archaic, beginning within the Early Woodland through to later times (Russo 2010; Schwadron 2010). For the purposes of this research, however, only those sites that have been identified as having been both constructed during the Late Archaic and are indeed shell rings as defined here (arcuate constructions of mounded shell that possess shell-free interior plazas) will be examined.



Figure 1.1 Examples of North American Late Archaic shell rings, noting both size and shape variations (adapted from Russo 2006:9)

The geographical focus of this study is the Atlantic and Gulf coastal regions of North America, ranging from South Carolina all the way around to Mississippi. The chronological focus of this study is the entire span of the Late Archaic period and the early transitional period between the Late Archaic and the Early Woodland periods (3200-2100 cal yr B.P.).

The purpose of this thesis is three-fold, to:

- bring together, into a single database, the currently available data from the shell rings of the Late Archaic;
- synthesize the newly centralized data set with past observations, statements, and theories regarding the Late Archaic shell rings to place the data into an historical context, and to examine broad geopolitical trends over time; and
- highlight for future researchers where the gaps in the data exist, and to thus potentially guide future research agendas

This study is a first attempt to address a major research topic posed by two southeastern shell ring scholars, Russo and Heide (2003:30), that "a clear picture of the political relation of rings to each other and other site types in regional settlement patterns has rarely been discussed," by pulling together and examining the entire Late Archaic shell ring data set. Future additions to the data set will no doubt affect the results of this analysis and how the rings are understood, however, gaining a better understanding of chronology, structure, materiality, or environmental surroundings are all directions that will add to the data and our understandings.

Chapter 2 describes the ecological and cultural settings for the Late Archaic shell rings as well as provides a brief summary of shell ring research. Chapter 3 discusses the topic of big data and database analyses. Chapter 4 follows these discussions and presents both the data that will be utilized within this study and a description of the construction and location of the Late Archaic shell ring database, one of the results of this study. Chapter 5 sets forth a geospatial and temporal analysis that utilizes the completed database. Chapter 6 is the final chapter of this volume and will be both a conclusion to this project as well as a plan for future directions for this project and suggestions for potentially productive avenues for shell ring research in general. The appendices of this volume contain all of the collected and combined data regarding the Late Archaic shell rings in table format and include shell ring radiometric data, material culture, measurements, and their National Historic Landmark (NHL) and National Register of Historic Places (NRHP) statuses. These appendices also include all new data generated by this study, such as shell ring eccentricity values, as well as imagery for the rings themselves.

Chapter 2

Background

Ecological Setting

North American shell rings have thus far been found spread along two main coastal regions, the southern Atlantic slope spanning from just south of the Grand Strand in South Carolina to the Loxahatchee River drainage in Florida, and the Gulf Coastal Plain spanning from Cape Romano in Florida to the head of the Pearl River at the border between Mississippi and Louisiana. Although the specific flora and fauna present in and around each shell ring would have varied, the ecological settings for all of the rings that date to the Late Archaic are similar: they are found within coastal tidal zones on islands, in or near coastal marshes, or on the mainland abutting shorelines. While the actual distance between shorelines and shell ring locations during the time of shell ring use will be discussed in further detail below, the general pattern of their physical locations remains the same: coastal marine environments.

The beginning of the Holocene marks the end of the most recent glacial period and the onset of rising global temperatures and changes in climate. Although not on the scale of fluctuations at the end of the Pleistocene, significant fluctuations in global weather patterns, regional climates, and local environments still occurred during the Early and Middle Holocene, which include the Early and Middle Archaic periods of North America (Anderson et al. 2007; Anderson and Sassaman 2012:74; Koç et al. 1993:139; Rich et al. 2011:74; Steffensen et al. 2008; Viau et al. 2006:3). By the time of the Middle Archaic period in the North American southeast (8900-5800 cal yr B.P.; Anderson and Sassaman 2012:2) the rate of rising sea-levels began to slow and sea levels began to reach modern levels by the end of the period. During this time there was a regional replacement of hardwood forests with pine forests had occurred in the



Figure 2.1 Map illustrating the locations of all currently identified Late Archaic shell rings.

interior of the Coastal Plain in between river valleys, where cypress swamps were becoming established, and global temperature was at or slightly higher than at present, at least in the northern hemisphere (Anderson et al. 2007:459; Anderson and Sassaman 2012:74; Mayewski 2009; Miao et al. 2007; Moros et al. 2006; Törnqvist et al. 2004; Webb et al. 1998). While there were still significant climate events during the Early Holocene, the general trend was toward a warmer, less variable climate.

The beginning of the Late Archaic period (5800-3200 cal yr B.P.) is when both sea level and climate begin to reach modern conditions, allowing the formation of oyster beds along the coasts, which would have been integral to the construction of the rings (Anderson and Sassaman 2012:74; Colquhoun and Brooks 1983:26; DePratter 1976:16; Thomas 2008:42; Sanger and Thomas 2010:59). DePratter (1976:16) notes that "at this point in time, a chain of events began to take place which later made possible the early aboriginal occupation of the coast." He goes on to note that along the Atlantic coastline, with sea levels permitting extensive marshland and riverine systems behind a string of barrier islands, there was creation of a low energy intertidal waterway system, which would have allowed for a more consistent, and less difficult method of travel along the coasts.

The people who constructed and used the shell rings can best be described as fisherhunter-gatherers, or fisher-foragers (Thomas 2014:179). These environments would have provided relatively easy access to a wide variety of marine fauna such as otters, fishes and sharks, mollusks, crustaceans, turtles, alligator, and water fowl, all of which have been shown to have been exploited by those living and using the shell rings. In addition, the users of the shell rings were also consuming terrestrial fauna such as opossum, shrew, mice, squirrel, rabbit, turkey, deer, dog, and bear (Colaninno 2011; Marrinan 1976, 2010; Thomas 2008). This array of fauna is accompanied by evidence for a similar broad exploitation of local flora such as pine, cedar, hickory, oak, hackberry, black cherry, holly, buckthorn, privet, grape, and mustards (Marrinan 2010:91), all of which were being utilized for subsistence via their berries, nuts, or seeds.

Cultural Setting: Late Archaic Period

By the time of the Late Archaic period the environmental setting was beginning to reach generally more stable conditions than had been previously experienced by those who had originally settled in the North American southeast during the end of the Pleistocene. This stability appears to have led to higher population densities and increases in social complexity in the region (Anderson et al. 2007; Anderson and Sassaman 2012; Gibson and Carr 2004; Russo 1994, 2004).

A rise in population is indicated via both the significant increase in the number of sites found during the Late Archaic period when compared to those present during the Middle Archaic period, as well as the increased diversity in material culture in the region (Anderson 1996; Sassaman 2010; Steponaitis 1986). These increases are seen especially within coastal zones and other previously underutilized areas (Anderson et al. 2007:459; Anderson and Sassaman 2012:74; Russo 2010:151). Anderson and Sassaman (2012:74) also state that "the most defining environmental factor of the Late Archaic period was the expansion of wetland habitat throughout the region," noting that this expansion specifically took place in riverine zones and coastal zones, the same areas in which the shell rings arise. The riverine and coastal zones of the southeastern United States were made up of a mixture of extensive wetlands and a chain of barrier islands extending all the way from Outer Banks in North Carolina to Cape Canaveral in Florida. While the coasts of Florida and Mississippi do not share the same barrier island chain as Georgia and South Carolina, there is still an extensive marsh system that contains various bays, inlets, waterways, and inland marshes that created a similar ecological system as was found along the Atlantic Coast (DePratter 1976:10; Thomas 2008:42).

It is in this environment that the shell rings arose. Current chronologies of the rings (Appendix B) place their initial use within the first half of the Late Archaic, after which, based upon recovered dates, both their construction and use continue throughout the region for the remainder of the Late Archaic, with some of these rings being used into the Early Woodland period. There has been a considerable amount of work done to better understand the rings at the local and regional levels, given their association with events such as the expansion of human settlement and activity along the Atlantic and Gulf coasts, the first developments and uses of ceramics in North America (Sassaman 1993), and the fact that they are tied to increases in social complexity within the southeastern United States (Russo 1996, 2006; Sassaman 2010). Shell rings have been a part of archaeological literature since John Drayton (1802:39,228) first noted their presence along the South Carolina coast. Recent archaeological research regarding the shell rings began again in the late 1960's with an extensive series of surveys along the coast (Hemmings 1969, 1970b,h, 1972), and since then the shell rings have been the subject of intermittent research for much of the last century (Russo 2006:17). This has had the unfortunate effect of causing the shell ring data (e.g. field reports, conference papers, published manuscripts, Historic Register applications) to be vast, with primary data about shell ring being found in varying degrees of completeness and accessibility (e.g. Lawrence 1989a,b,c, 1991a,b) with some rings being well represented within the literature, while the data from other rings has either never been reported, published, or been made available.

Shell Ring Studies: New Beginnings

The shell rings of the Late Archaic have been recognized and recorded within archaeology and the natural sciences for over two hundred years beginning with John Drayton in 1802. Drayton's focus was on presenting a broad scale social, economic, ecological, and historical portrait of South Carolina that included everything from diseases, to botany, and the value of current estates, and only briefly mentioned the coastal shell sites. While there were many small and large scale visits and excavations conducted at these sites from the time of C.B. Moore in the late nineteenth century to the 1960's, most rings visited during this time were either underreported or not reported on at all (DePratter 1976; Russo 2006; Sanger and Thomas 2010: 45). Edwards (1965) work at the Sewee mound north of Charleston and Waring and Larson's work at the shell ring on Sapelo Island (1968) are significant exceptions. As Sanger and Thomas (2010:45) note, however, beginning in the 1970's through to today, there has been an ever increasing quality in excavations, documentation, and analysis of the rings, with different projects working to examine the shell rings within (sub)regional contexts (Calmes 1968; Crusoe and DePratter 1976; Hemmings 1970; Marrinan 1975; Russo 2006; Trinkley 1980); specific sites (Marrinan 1975; Michie 1976; Saunders 2002; Sanger and Thomas 2010; Thomas 2008; Thompson 2007; Trinkley 1975), or specific subjects such as power relations, ceramic technology, or human settlement patterns (DePratter 1976; Russo 2004; Sassaman 1992; Thompson and Andrus 2011). As both data and analyses have increased, varying assumptions, observations, and theories about Late Archaic shell rings have been proposed.

One of the main questions is that of the function of the shell rings. They have been proposed to be defensive constructions (Moore 1897:72), barriers from flooding/storm surges (Drayton 1802:57); habitation debris from circular settlements (Crusoe and DePratter 1976:14;

Hemmings 1970; Marrinan 1975:107; Thompson 2007:92; Trinkley 1985; Waring 1968; Waring and Larsen 1968); fish traps (Edwards 1965; cf. Russo 2013), centers for ceremonial/ritual activity (Cable 1997; McKinley 1873; Russo 2004; Russo and Heide 2003; Thompson 2007), or even monumental constructions (Russo 2004; cf. Marquardt 2010). While some of these theories have been largely disproved, others have taken center stage in the discussions of the use of the rings (e.g. Russo 2006; Sanger and Thompson 2010; Thompson 2007; Thompson and Turck 2009). As noted above, one of the goals of this project is to examine some of these past theories by developing a shell ring dataset, and to then highlight those areas where information is sparse, with the hope of aiding future research.

The first modern regional analysis of the shell rings was conducted as a result of a 240 km survey of the Atlantic coast from Bull Bay, SC to Sapelo Island, GA, that was conducted by E. Thomas Hemmings and Gene Waddell for the South Carolina Institute of Anthropology and Archaeology (Hemmings 1969, 1970h,b, 1972). These initial investigations resulted in the identification of 18 shell rings from 14 different sites, with four additional sites that were categorized as potential shell rings. Additionally, this survey lead to preliminary excavations at the Daw's Island ring (38BU9), and a full trench excavation at the Fig Island 2 ring (38CH42). These data, combined with previous single site excavations by other researchers (Edwards 1965; Calmes 1968; Waring and Larson 1968) led to the first regional synthesis concerning the shell rings (Hemmings 1972) that established many of the patterns, such as shell ring locations, evidence for deliberate construction, and diet, that are still a part of most discussions of the rings today.

Following Hemmings and Waddell's initial investigations, Crusoe and DePratter (1976) examined a number of Late Archaic sites along the Georgia coast which included portions of Hemmings and Waddell's survey area but then extended further south. The purpose of the study was to examine the Shell Mound Archaic in Georgia and included in the data were the Late Archaic shell rings. The authors noted that the terrain behind the barrier islands was an area of low energy and that due to changes in sea levels the rings in Florida may have actually been more a part of the same inter coastal network of low energy waterways; they also hypothesized that conditions at the time allowed for the proliferation of oysters (Crusoe and DePratter 1976:2; DePratter 1976:17), which would not only come to be a staple of Late Archaic, coastal diets (Marrinan 1975; Parsons and Marrinan 2013; Thomas et al. 2008) but also would become the main construction material for the shell rings (DePratter 1976:17).

Another observation related to the lithic assemblages from the shell rings. All of the social groups that existed locally during the Middle and Late Archaic periods were hunter-gatherers, yet Crusoe and DePratter (1976:36) noted that in their study area only a few sites had any notable quantity of projectile points or even showed signs of hunting activities; furthermore, not all sites showed signs of year-round occupation. Combined, this information led to the conclusion that different sites such as mound/midden sites, ring sites, and smaller outlying shell and non-shell sites had different purposes, and were all part of a larger context/system of interrelated sites, indicating social networks for the period were larger than traditionally assumed.

Crusoe and DePratter (1976:68) identified three classes of sites within the coastal network, and five location categories. The three classes of sites were as follows: shell rings (crescent-shaped middens), simple midden heaps, and ephemeral sites where small amounts of fiber-tempered pottery were found but no traces of shell heaping. According to the authors all of these sites could be found in one of the following five location categories: sites on the mainland,



Figure 2.2 Map illustrating the locations of the five Pleistocene shorelines of the Georgia coast: Silver Bluff, Princess, Pamlico, Talbot, and Pennholoway. Modified from Figure 5.1, Thomas 2008:49 citing Hoyt and Hails, 1967:1542.

sites in the marsh between the mainland and the Silver Bluff Islands, sites on Silver Bluff Islands, sites in the marshlands between the Silver Bluff Islands and Holocene Islands, and sites found on Holocene Islands (Crusoe and DePratter 1976:1; DePratter 1975; Figure 2.2). In their discussion of ceramics, Crusoe and DePratter (1976:42) observed that the earliest ceramics found along the Georgia coast were almost always undecorated and that decorated wares became more common later in time, during the St. Simons period (Table 2.1 and Figure 2.3). They also noted that Marrinan (1975) found that there were both decorated and undecorated ceramics evenly distributed through all levels of the rings that she was investigating. A year prior to Crusoe and DePratter's regional study, Marrinan (1975) published on work conducted at two shell rings, Cannon's Point and West, found on St. Simon's Island, Georgia. The work is notable in shell ring research for the use of fine-grained screening techniques, and in-depth faunal/subsistence analyses, and detailed reporting (Marrinan 1975, 2010; Sanger and Thomas 2010:45).

At around the same time that the Georgia coast was being examined, Trinkley was conducting an independent regional analysis of shell sites in coastal South Carolina (Trinkley 1975, 1980, 1983). From both his broad scale studies of South Carolina coastal sites and his more specific excavations at the Lighthouse Point and Stratton Place shell rings (Trinkley 1975, 1980, 1983), Trinkley was able to make a number of observations concerning both regional and site-specific behavior. One of the regional observations was that the sites associated with fibertempered pottery, namely the Stallings phase sites (for ceramic distributions, see Figure 2.4), were more concentrated on the Savannah River floodplain and show "little dependency on the upland" (Trinkley 1980:44), indicating that the groups associated with these sites may have had well defined, circumscribed social boundaries. In addition, Trinkley similarly to DePratter



Figure 2.3: Chronological chart of the early ceramic phases of the Atlantic coastal plain, peninsular Florida, and the Midsouth. Adapted from Sassaman 1993:18.



Figure 2.4: Distribution of early pottery wares along the Atlantic coastal plain. Adapted from Waggoner 2009:142, citing Sassaman 1993 and Saunders and Hayes 2004.

Pottery Type	Temper	Decoration
Stallings I	Preceramic	
Stallings II	Fibers	None/Plain
Stallings III	Fibers	Plain, Incised, Punctate, and Simple Stamped
St. Simons I	Fibers, some sand present	None/Plain
St. Simons II	Fibers, some sand present	Plain, Incised, Punctate, and Incised and Punctate
Thom's Creek	Sand and Grit	Plain, Incised, Punctate, Finger Pinched, and Simple Stamped
Orange I	Fibers	Plain and Incised
Orange II	Fibers and sand	Plain and Incised
Orange III	Fibers and sand	Plain, Incised, and Punctate
Orange IV	Fibers and sand	Plain, Incised, and Punctate

Table 2.1: Brief temper and decoration listings of early ceramics of the southeastern United States.

(1977), also observed that the barrier islands and the marsh systems along the coasts formed a protective boundary for the human inhabitants. He observed that the Lighthouse Point shell ring was "protected from severe weather by Folly and Morris Islands and by lagoons east of James Island" (Trinkley 1980:155).

In his technofunctional analysis of the early pottery of the southeastern Unites States, Sassaman (1993) illustrated both the antiquity of ceramic use along the coast as well as the socio-political complexities that existed among local hunter-gatherers. Compiling existing dates, Sassaman (1993:23) showed that ceramic use developed towards the beginning of the Late Archaic between ca. 5200-5000 cal yr BP and not near the transition to the Early Woodland. In fact, by 4200 cal yr B.P. there were sub regional traditions that had sprung up with local groups developing their own pottery practices (Sassaman 1993:23). Sassaman also observed that, at the regional scale, "evidence for spatial patterning possibly indicative of sociopolitical boundaries has also been noted" (Sassaman 1993:8).

One aspect of Sassaman's study that is important to this current project is that much of the data for early pottery in the southeastern United States comes from shell rings sites or is associated with shell rings sites. He concluded that the Stallings tradition originated within the Savannah River and that asymmetrical social relations were present during the construction of shell rings (Sassaman 1993:8).

A major change in our understanding of the complexity of social life in the southeastern Archaic period came with the publication of assemblages and dates that firmly established that large mound construction was a part of the lives of the hunter-gatherers as far back as the Mid-Holocene, and not merely an anomaly (Anderson and Sassaman 2012:76; Russo 1994; Sassaman 2010). That hunter-gatherers could socially mobilize to create massive and long-lasting earthworks validated the possibility that shell rings were more than mere functional or accidental or unintentional constructions.

Big Rings, Big Power

The topic of mounds, rings, and monuments would continue to be carried forward and expanded upon in the ensuing period of shell ring research, from the late 1990's to the present. Where most of the previous research regarding shell rings had been driven in part by the rise of the New Archaeology (Binford 1962) and thus was more focused upon subsistence strategies, local environments, and behavioral ecology, towards the late 1990's shell ring research shifted, and began to include approaches such as sociopolitical factors, agency, and structure. As a result, shell rings began to be discussed in terms of how they marked power, hierarchy, and social complexity.

Many of the earlier approaches, such as consideration of diet breadth, site locations, or differences in material culture continued to be examined, but were fleshed out in greater detail and expounded upon. For example, by using concepts from social space theory (Grøn 1991), Russo and Heide (2001) solidified Trinkley's observation about the observed differences between shell rings that are found along the southern Atlantic slope and those that are found in Florida and the Gulf Coast. In general, rings were more circular along the Atlantic as opposed to more C-shaped within Florida, and ring diameters and heights were significantly larger and taller in Florida than further north along the Atlantic coast. The massive Fig Island complex in South Carolina is one of the few exceptions to this general pattern, which was inferred to reflect differences in organizational structures and power relations in the societies building the shell rings between the two areas (Russo 2004; Russo and Heide 2001, 2003). By combining the information provided by human behavioral ecology with more socially focused concepts from the Post-Processual movement, Russo and Heide, among others, were able to make more detailed observations about the social relations of the coastal inhabitants of the Late Archaic. Some of these observations include the fact that due to the plentiful resources that would have been available, the users of the shell rings may have had higher levels of sedentism than other foragers, which in turn would have increased the complexity of social interactions. This is seen in behaviors such as feasting activities, the rise of more specialized crafts such as pottery production, and the intentional construction and maintenance of the more specific circular architecture of shell mounds and shell rings (Russo and Heide 2001; Russo 2004:43; Russo and Heide 2003:110; Saunders 2004). Further observations include evidence for asymmetrical social relations that may have been present during the construction of rings (Sassaman 1993; Russo 2004: 53; Russo 2002; Russo and Heide 2003), as well as the existence of expansive social and economic networks that are seen through the regional exchange of bannerstones, soapstone, and shell beads (Sassaman 2004).

Trends, Traditions, and Articulated Landscapes

Using all of these past data and analyses, newer and more nuanced understandings of the shell rings have more recently begun to take shape. Thompson (2007), in his research of the Sapelo shell ring complex, showed that behaviors through time can also be complex. Thompson focused on the debate regarding the formation and function of the shell rings. He grouped together all of the various ideas about shell ring formation and use into two overarching theories: a Gradual Accumulation theory and a Ceremonial Theory. The Gradual Accumulation theory views the rings as permanent or semi-permanent circular settlements that, due to repeated use and curation of the mounded shell, eventually accumulate to form the recognizable architecture that are the shell rings. The Ceremonial theory views the rings as short-termed, intentional mounding events that are designed and built with the intention of being utilized for social ceremony or as a community monument. Thompson's research on Sapelo Island suggested that both models were accurate, in that the formation and function of the rings may change through time (Thompson 2007, 2013; Thompson and Turck 2009).

At around the same time as Thompson was highlighting the articulated behaviors of the coastal shell ring users, Sanger and Thomas (2010; Sanger 2010, 2015) focused on the two shell rings that were constructed on St. Catherines Island, the St. Catherines ring and the McQueen ring. While these two rings are not immediately adjacent to each other, as is seen at a number of the other Atlantic coastal rings, they are only 2.7 kilometers apart. Thomas and Sanger showed that the two rings were contemporaneous yet had distinct material culture patterns. Even though roughly comparable volumes have been excavated at each ring, only 1% of the ceramics found at the St. Catherines ring are decorated compared to 14% from the McQueen shell ring. In addition, the St. Catherines ring contained more than 3000 baked clay objects (BCO's) whereas the

McQueen ring had only 15. The St. Catherines ring lithics were made almost exclusively of Coastal Plain chert but at the McQueen ring a wider array of lithic materials were recovered, such as grey chert, metavolcanics, quartz, and quartzite. Thomas and Sanger postulate that there may have been a "greater degree of planning and purpose" with the McQueen ring when compared to the St. Catherines ring (Sanger and Thomas 2010:45), which led them to conclude that the McQueen ring could have been used by a different population than the St. Catherines ring or that it had greater ceremonial purpose, or both of these options.

Through all of the changes in thinking about how shell rings have been conceptualized there have been a number of consistent observations. Evidence for habitation has been found at many of the shell rings, such as shell filled pits beneath the rings (Calmes 1967; Flannery 1943; Russo 1991; Sanger and Thomas 2010; Thomas 2008; Waring and Larsen 1968), other occupation debris (Saunders 2004b:258; Russo and Heide 2003: figure 20), and food preparation and consumption (Marrinan 1975, 2010).

This brief review highlights the large amount of research that has been conducted on shell rings of the Late Archaic southeast. Not until the past decade, however, was a major synthesis prepared summarizing this information (Russo 2006). One of the goals of this thesis has been to compile primary assemblage and dating information from all of these projects, including research that has been conducted within the past decade, and organize it into a centralized database. The following chapters will document how the shell ring database was produced, and demonstrate possible uses for it.

Chapter 3

Databases and Big Data, Software and Statistical Methods,

and the North American Late Archaic Shell Ring Database

One of the goals of this study is the creation of a single, searchable, and public database that combines available data regarding the Late Archaic shell rings of the North American southeast. These data include shell ring images, chronological evidence, shell ring dimensions, and summary data on material culture. While the focus of this analysis is not to examine or expound upon all of the specific issues revolving around proper data analysis or database use, it is necessary to take a moment to lay out some of the biases of this study. This project is the result of questions that the author had about both the history and the data from Late Archaic southeastern shell rings. To properly begin to examine questions regarding the shape and function of shell rings, it was necessary to take a step back to bring a number of categories of information together into a single database.

Databases and 'Big Data'

The term "Big Data" refers to "not just a lot of data, but different types of data handled in new ways" (Lohr 2013). In a separate discussion of the origins and future of Big Data, Diebold (2012) notes that "...the necessity of grappling with Big Data, and the desirability of unlocking the information within it, is now a key theme in all the sciences – arguably *the* key scientific theme of our times" (Diebold 2012:4 [emphasis added by author]). For both of these authors, Big Data is not just a descriptor for size of data sets, nor is it just a single analytical method, instead both of these definitions indicate that Big Data is a discipline unto itself (Diebold 2012:5), a discipline that is not simple rehashing old ways but is creating new directions, and "in a

landscape littered with failed attempts at interdisciplinary collaboration, Big Data is emerging as a major interdisciplinary triumph" (Diebold 2012:5).

The discipline of Big Data begins with the use of large (or larger than has been usual) data sets and the results of various statistical analyses that are conducted on these data sets. Big Data is invariably tied to the collection and use of these data sets, which have been the culmination of both long-term data collection and of ever increasing technologies that allow for the collection, storage, and analyses of these data sets. Within archaeology a few notable examples of Big Data projects that are exemplars of this tradition, both in time and technology are the Paleoindian Database of the Americas (PIDBA) (Anderson et al. 2010) and the more recent Digital Index of North American Archaeology (DINAA) (Wells et al. 2014). While these databases are indeed indicative of Big Data in their scope and range, Big Data projects need not be regional projects or projects that involved great time-depth. A single site that keeps all data in a parsed out database can also fall under the purview of Big Data.

What are some of the benefits of using such databases and analyses? In short, Big Data methods can be very good at finding correlations, especially the more subtle correlations that may be missed if there were limited data sets being used (Marcus and Davis 2014). Big Data projects are also beneficial in that data is collected all in one place and thus it is easier to not only access but also examine the nature of the data (e.g. to determine what is missing from the data or what is the quality of the data). There is, however, a misconception about Big Data projects, namely that in having such large quantities of data in a central location they both help to remove researcher bias by including all data, rather than researcher selected data, and that they provide a silver-bullet-like solution to analyses. An anecdote that exemplifies the problems with this misconception is from a recent article by Marcus and Davis (2014:A23):

A big data analysis might reveal, for instance, that from 2006 to 2011 the United States murder rate was well correlated with the market share of Internet Explorer: Both went down sharply. But it is hard to imagine there is any causal relationship between the two. Likewise, from 1998 to 2007 the number of new cases of autism diagnosed was extremely well correlated with sales of organic food (both went up sharply), but identifying the correlation won't by itself tell us whether diet has anything to do with autism.

There are three main takeaways that should be noted in the above examples. The first is the main point that the authors are noting here: correlation does not imply relationships (direct or indirect) and most definitely does not imply causation. The second takeaway is that databases are, in fact, simply centralized locations for data storage that are meaningless without human interaction; they do not analyze themselves. Lastly, while the authors above can offhandedly, and jokingly, note that murder rates are not in fact caused by, or are even related to, Internet Explorer market share prices, anthropologists and archaeologists may not have it as easy. The authors of the above example are members of the society in which they are studying and thus knew that the above correlation was not in fact causal. With the only information that archaeologists have to work with being that which is being excavated, they cannot so easily dismiss observed patterns or possible correlations, which in turn can lead to errors in giving too much credence to correlations that are coincidental. Each of these issues will be discussed in turn below.

In the field of computer science and information technology there is an acronym that is used as a watchword for sloppiness and carelessness: GIGO. GIGO stands for Garbage In, Garbage Out. As noted earlier, databases are a simple centralized collection of data, but they do not spring into existence fully formed nor do they analyze themselves for relevance and meanings. Data is collected, data is categorized, and data is analyzed; all of this is done by humans. The 'Garbage In' portion of the statement refers to the primary collection process of data. During this process, choices are made about what exact data to collect. One example of this is within the shell ring data itself. When one looks for ring diameters, it is impossible to find consistency in the data that has been collected. In some cases, the recorded diameter is simply the largest diameter, measured from the outside edge of the ring. In other cases, if the researchers recognized that the shapes were not circular and hence recorded two diameters, smallest and largest. In other cases all that was measured was a plaza (interior) diameter, and for some rings no measurements have been made at all, or at least no records of such measurement has been found. If one were to simply record these data without being critical of how it was obtained and what it was referring to, then any analysis that would be conducted and any relationships drawn would be skewed by the compounded error and would more than likely be incorrect. Thus, when creating databases, great care should be taken to both be critical of the data and open about its nature and quality for the sake of any future analyses. Furthermore, those that produce primary data should always take care in the process of data collection. This is especially true for a field such as archaeology, where our methods, such as excavation, are often destructive and thus, in many cases, there is only one chance to gather good data.

The 'Garbage Out' aspect of GIGO refers to the analysis portion of projects. As noted, if a database is not carefully created, maintained, and annotated, then, by default, any results arising from the use of the database should be suspect. However, it is still possible to get 'garbage out' of a perfectly good data set. One could have all of the data in the world but if one chooses to only look at selected items or if one asks bad questions then one can reasonably expect to get bad results. In the example above, if one were to only elect to look at organic food
sales in relation to autism then one would feel confident in the positive correlation and emphatically state that buying organic foods leads to rises in autism. Or, in the case of the shell ring data set, if one were to only focus on one measurement of diameter in relation to location, and to not consider the effects of time, sea levels, or any other number of factors influencing ring morphology, then one could easily come to very different conclusions then those obtained from looking at different aspects of the data.

The last fact about Big Data projects, especially with its use within the field of anthropology, is that the above authors' ease in dismissing correlations comes from their unique situation of being members of the society of which they speak and can, without doubt, conclude that these correlations are coincidental. However, with anthropologists who study cultures of which they are only briefly a part of, or for archaeologists who were never a part of and are forced to look through the lens of time, it is not as easy to dismiss such correlations. In fact, Big Data analyses that are conducted within anthropology usually will lead to more questions than answers, since any correlation that is found must, inevitably, be thoroughly examined to ensure that one's own cultural or personal biases are not influencing the eventual interpretations.

In conclusion, it is always important to understand both the benefits and limitations of conducting Big Data research. The results of such data compilations and analyses are determined by both the quality of the datasets and are only as good as the questions being asked. One should always be critical of not only the data they are using but also of their own methods of collection, analyses, and interpretation.

Open Source and Software Packages

The concept of "open source" is associated traditionally with coding and software and only in more recent times has it been used in relation to information such as research data and publications. In actuality, the original concept of open source can be traced back to some of the very first scholarly journals in the 17th century which were being published with the very same intentions that the current open source movement within digital journals: to make scientific information available freely to any who chose to access it (Open Source World 2015). The current definition of open source follows these main concepts: free distribution, complete and open access to all source information, the full acceptance that derived works will occur and are thus allowed to be distributed, author integrity, no discriminatory practices at any level of the process or towards any parties, and open licensing where applicable (Open Source Initiative 2007).

As noted there is a current push to make more sources of information, software, and technology open source, as defined above, with the very same underlying principles that guided those early scientific journals. This project was conducted utilizing and almost entirely open source work flow. Besides final formatting for the purposes of official submission, all word processing and database creation were performed using Google Drive, Google Docs, and Google Sheets. All spatial analysis, mapping and GIS procedures were conducted using the QGIS 2.10.1 with GRASS 6.4.4 (QGIS Development Team 2015). All mathematical calculations, statistical analyses, and some database processing were conducted using the RStudio 0.98.1103 interface (RStudio Team 2015) and using the R 3.1.0 statistical package (R Core Team 2013).

Late Archaic Shell Ring Repository

While much of the data utilized within this project was freely and publically available, it was still dispersed among dozens of reports with the data remaining in whatever format (table, graph, or list) the original authors and researchers deemed most appropriate for their respective studies. Recently, Russo (2006) gathered much of the available data together into a single report



Figure 3.1: Screenshot of the database page of the Late Archaic Shell Ring Repository which can be found at the following URL: http://www.martinpwalker.com/#!lasrr/cvqv. Each of the Artifacts tabs along the left, and the Radiocarbon dates, Dimension and Measurements, and NHRP Statuses tabs, will all link to a single excel spreadsheet that will include the listed data from all of the shell rings of the Late Archaic period. The Site Maps and Imagery and the Individual Ring Reports tabs will open up a new page that will include individual files for each shell ring.

with the expressed purpose of providing "the archeological and historical context for nominating nationally significant Late Archaic shell-ring sites for designation as National Historic Landmarks" (Russo 2006:8). With the data centralized it became much easier to begin to consider the regional variability in shell rings. However, these data were still all contained in the static format of printed tables. Thus, one of the major products of this project is the creation of a searchable database that has each category of data parsed out into individual columns and tables, allowing researchers to sort through and work with whichever individual or grouped data they wish to.

The database, the Late Archaic Shell Ring Repository, is structured as a series of individual excel tables and collections of images that are currently being hosted at the following website: http://www.martinpwalker.com/#!lasrr/cvqv. There are two sets of tables that can be found as a part of this database (Figure 3.1), the first set are structured such that they group together material culture types (e.g. lithics, ceramics, shell, etc.), shell ring design elements (e.g. ring dimensions, or shape descriptions), radiometric data, and current NRHP/NHL statuses. Each of these groupings have their own table that includes information from all of the shell rings. The second set of tables found in the database are individual shell ring tables that collect all of the available data listed above for each individual ring such that each shell ring has their own unique table of information.

Image data such as site maps and photographs that were taken from site reports and other documentation also exist within the database as individual image files. There also exists a geospatial relational database with all of these data mapped to the exact coordinates of each shell ring, however, this database, and the locational information of the shell rings, will not be made

available via the open access database. For location data for the shell rings, researchers will need to contact the appropriate federal, state, and local agencies.

As new data becomes available and as newer analyses are conducted on the North American shell rings these data tables will be updated. Furthermore, in time this database will also expand to include the North American shell rings of the Woodland and Mississippian time periods. The following chapter provides a more detailed description of the different data that exists within the available database, and all of the available data can also be found in the appendices of this thesis.

Chapter 4

The Data

Origins of the Data

The data for this project were gathered from currently available shell ring literature, with primary sources being utilized whenever possible, and secondary recordings of data being used only when primary sources could not be obtained or for confirmation purposes. These data took many forms such as conference papers, site reports, published articles and manuscripts, and site maps. It should be noted that not all of the rings mentioned here have been excavated; some have not even had more than a cursory survey. Of the 51 known Late Archaic shell rings, 10 (19.6%) have had no archaeological work conducted beyond recording of presence, and 2 (3.9%) have had only a cursory survey. This leaves only 39 (76.5%) shell rings that have had archaeological excavations conducted. The nature of these excavations is variable, ranging from long-term and extensive to short-term and limited recovery projects. The following chapter will go into specific details about the kind of data and material culture that have been recovered from archaeological investigations at the shell rings.

National Register of Historic Places & National Historic Landmark Statuses

One illustration of the variable nature of work done at shell rings can be seen in regard to their National Register of Historic Places (NRHP) and the National Historic Landmark (NHL) listings. Of the 51 known or possible Late Archaic shell rings only 14 (27.5%) have been listed in the NRHP, all but one of which were placed there in the 1970's (Russo 2006:113; Appendix A). Furthermore, there are a number of rings that have not been evaluated (19 rings, 37.3%)

leaving their current status unknown, and with the current trends of climate change and sea level rise, if these sites are not protected or mitigated the information in them will likely be lost.

Shell Ring Chronology

There are currently a total of 163 dates from 32 of the Late Archaic shell rings (Appendix B). The distribution of these dates, however, is not evenly spread across all sites, with 85 dates (52.1% of all of the dates) belonging to only five of the rings, and with the remaining 78 dates being spread out over the remaining 27 shell rings (Table 4.1). Furthermore, not all of the dates taken from the rings are indicators of Late Archaic activity, with some of the dates collected showing both earlier and later human activity at these locations. Given the unevenness of the chronological data, the temporal analysis of the rings conducted here will be open to future revisions as newer data become available. The dates obtained thus far indicate that shell ring construction, use, and maintenance lasted for the entirety of the Late Archaic period and persisted into the Early Woodland period, though, as has been documented by Sanger (2010) and will be examined further below, activity does not appear to have been continuous through the Late Archaic at all sites, with different sites appearing, being used, and then being abandoned at different times and intervals.

Shell Ring Material Culture

Ceramics

Shell rings are directly associated with some of the earliest ceramics in the New World. Of the 51 known shell rings, 43 have been shown to have ceramics of some kind (Appendix C). The two earliest pottery types found in the shell rings are a fiber-tempered ware that is commonly referred to as Stallings and a sand-tempered ware that appears just after Stallings,

Site Name	Site ID	Number of Dates	Site Name	Site ID	Number of Dates
A. Busch Krick	9MC87	2	Joseph Reed	8MT13	6
Auld	38CH41	1	Lighthouse Point	38CH12	5
Barrows	38BU300	1	McQueen	9LI1648	15
Bonita Bay	8LL717	4	Meig's Pasture	80K102	6
Cannon's Point	9GN57	2	Oxeye	8DU7478	4
Cedarland	22HC30	1	Patent Point	38BU301	2
Claiborne	22HC35	4	Rollins	8DU7510	12
Coosaw 1	38BU1866	1	Sapelo 1	9MC23	7
Coosaw 2	38BU1866	3	Sapelo 2	9MC23	1
Coosaw 3	38BU1866	1	Sapelo 3	9MC23	3
Fig Island 1	38CH42	3	Sea Pines	38BU7	2
Fig Island 2	38CH42	3	Sewee Shell Ring	38Ch45	3
Fig Island 3	38CH42	3	Skull Creek, Large	38BU8	2
Guana	8SJ2554	10	Skull Creek, Small	38BU8	1
Hill Cottage	8SO2	5	St. Catherines	9LI231	35
Horr's Island	8CR209	13	West	9GN76	2

Table 4.1: Number of radiocarbon dates collected for each shell ring (Russo 2006:11-16; Sanger and Thomas 2010:62-63). For the complete table of dates and their references see Appendix B.



Figure 4.1 Map of shell rings by ceramic types, adapted from Russo 2006:52.

called Thom's Creek. Both of these pottery types appear in context with the Atlantic coastal rings, with ceramics appearing at the rings in Florida and along the Gulf coast later in time (Russo 2006:31). The presence of fiber tempered pottery has been reported at 31 sites; 22 site reports included specific type identifications such as Stallings, St. Simons, and Orange wares. The remaining 9 shell rings did not list specific types, simply listing the presence of fiber tempering. Of the rings where specific ceramic types were identified, 4 sites contain Orange wares, 8 sites possessed Stallings wares, and 10 sites contained St. Simon's wares.

Thom's Creek sand-tempered wares are reported from 24 sites and 3 sites are reported to have Awendaw wares. The distribution of these wares along the Atlantic coast has been extensively studied (Anderson 1975; Russo 2006; Sassaman 1993; Thompson et al. 2008; Trinkley 1980) with the overarching trend of these studies showing that fiber-temper wares (Stalling and St. Simons) are located on the southern end of the Atlantic coast, mostly on the coast of Georgia and the southern South Carolina coast, and sand-tempered wares (Thom's Creek and Awendaw) being found along the northern stretch of the lower Atlantic coast, mostly along the central coast of South Carolina. These two tempers are not mutually exclusive, with some sites containing both wares. In fact, there are 14 shell rings that contain both tempers most of which are along the southern South Carolina coast. Despite overlapping along the coast, Russo (2006:52; Figure 4.1) has mapped the distributions of these types and has shown that they do have individual distributions, indicating ceramic manufacture and use varied sub-regionally among early and middle Late Archaic shell ring users, with three major groupings evident: Thom's Creek users, Stallings users, and non-pottery users. While non-pottery users are present within the shell ring building tradition (Sassaman 1993:22), by ca. 4000 cal yr B.P., Orange wares appear in those areas where pottery was initially not being utilized.

Lithics

The recovery of lithic materials from shell ring sites, as well as Late Archaic Atlantic coastal sites in general, is rare (DePratter 1975; Russo 2006; Sassaman 1993; Sanger and Thomas 2010:68; Trinkley 1980:208). In fact when one examines the numbers, only 62.7% of the currently known Late Archaic shell rings have had lithics recovered, and when we break down these recovered items into general categories of projectile points, flakes, bifaces, and blades, lithic artifacts do not make up much of the material culture that are found at shell ring sites. There are a number of factors that could play a role in the various discrepancies that exist within these numbers: recovery methods, general prehistoric lithic availability, and shell ring use. As noted, one of the factors that could affect the recovery of certain lithic artifacts, such as quartz pebbles or pins, is the fact that different rings were excavated at different periods of time, and thus experienced varied research agendas and recovery methods, such as the use or lack thereof of screens or flotation. Another possible reason for the variability in recovery is because in some cases, some of these sites may have had more or less lithic materials due to variable access to lithic sources further inland (DePratter 1976:36). The final suggestion for the differences in recovery of lithic artifacts is the use of the shell rings themselves. If we assume that the shell rings were strictly habitation sites, then certain kinds and quantities of household artifacts should be present. However, if the use of shell rings was not only for habitation (or not habitation at all) then perhaps the reason for the discrepancies in lithic artifacts could be that lithics were not employed in the activities that occurred at the rings.

A very limited number of bifaces and blades have also been recovered from the Late

	Number of Rings Where Recovered	Percentage of Total Rings
Lithics Present	32	62.7%
Projectile Points	13	26%
Flakes	19	38%
Bifaces	3	6%
Blades	2	4%
Hammer stones	5	10%
Groundstones	3	6%
Quartz Pebbles	2	4%
Chert Pieces	2	4%
Pins	2	4%
Bannerstones	2	4%

Table 4.2: Presence of lithics at shell ring sites by lithic type. See Appendix D for more detailed lithics counts and references.

Table 4.3: Shell Ring Projectile Point Counts. See Appendix D for more detailed lithics counts and references.

Site Name	Site ID	Projectile Points Count	
Cannon's Point	9GN57	2	
Cedarland	22HC30	Uncounted	
Chester Field	38BU29	2-5	
Claiborne	22HC35	Uncounted	
Guana	8SJ2554	2	
Horr's Island	8CR209	1	
Lighthouse Point	38CH12	10	
McQueen	9Li1648	8	
Sapelo 3	9MC23	1	
Sewee Shell Ring	38Ch45	2	
Skull Creek Large	38BU8	2 (from Sharll Croals rings)	
Skull Creek Small	38BU8	2 (from Skull Creek rings)	
St. Catherines	9LI231	18	
Stratton Place	38CH24	1	

Archaic coastal shell rings (Ogden 2011:72; Table 4.2). In the context of the coastal shell rings the term bifaces do not necessarily imply projectile point technology, but simply refer to lithic pieces that have been worked on two parallel sides. Such tools in these Late Archaic assemblages were utilized for a multitude of cutting and slicing tasks. Of all of the rings with lithic material recorded, only three have bifaces, and of those three, two had only one biface each, and the final ring, St. Catherines shell ring, had 36 bifaces. In regards to blades, only two sites have reported the presence of blades, the McQueen and St. Catherines shell rings, both found on St. Catherines Island, Georgia. This may be in part due to the reports from these two sites following the strict definition of a blade as "a flake with parallel or sub-parallel lateral margins, which is usually at least twice as long as it is wide" (Ogden 2011:59 quoting Andrefsky 2005:253). With only these two sites having recorded blades, it is possible that all of the other shell ring sites combined potential blades, flakes that are longer than they are wide, in with overall flake counts.

Site Name	Site ID	Flakes Count	
A. Busch Krick	9MC87	1	
Cane Patch	9CH35	1	
Cannon's Point	9GN57	Uncounted	
Cedarland	22HC30	Uncounted	
Chester Field	38BU29	Uncounted	
Claiborne	22HC35	Uncounted	
Coosaw 3	38BU1866	1	
Fig Island 1	38CH42	1	
Guerard Point	38BU21	2	
Horr's Island	8CR209	19	
Joseph Reed	8MT13	4	
McQueen	9Li1648	2297	
Oxeye	8DU7478	2	
Rollins	8DU7510	10	
Sapelo 3	9MC23	81	
Sewee Shell Ring	38Ch45	1	
St. Catherines	9LI231	4879	
Stratton Place	38CH24	1	
West Ring	9GN76	56	

Table 4.4: Shell Ring Flake Count. See Appendix D for more detailed lithics counts and references.

Of the rings with lithic materials, only 13 rings have recorded any projectile points (Table 4.3) and of these, in all but four cases (Chester Field, Lighthouse Point, McQueen, and St. Catherines), the number of projectile points is only 1 or 2 (Appendix D). Of the shell rings reporting lithics, only19 had flakes present; in many cases the quantities of flakes were either not given (listed as "Uncounted" in Table 4.4) or the counts were low (Table 4.4). Of the 15 rings with recorded flake counts, 9 have 5 or fewer flakes and 13 have under 100 present, while the remaining two sites have much large numbers, in the thousands (Table 4.4). In a review of lithic materials from the two rings on St. Catherines Island, Sanger and Thomas (2010:68) argue that the initial reduction sequence most likely took place elsewhere and not at the rings themselves. The full range of lithic materials from shell rings includes chert and flint pieces, groundstone, limestone, quartzite, and sandstone, and contained such artifacts as balls, bannerstones, beads, engravers, hammer stones, heating stones, hones, metates, pendants, pins, and scarpers (Table 4.5). However, again, the only pattern or consistency among these artifacts is that limestone is only found at the rings in Florida.

Shell Ring Design

For the purposes of this analysis, design will refer to the combined dimensions of size and shape of the shell rings with size being defined by the maximum ring diameter and shape defined as the eccentricity of the ring, which will be explained below. In order to ensure consistency of eccentricity calculations and maximum diameters, all site maps that could be collected from the literature were scanned and uploaded into the software AutoCAD 2013 where all measurements were standardized as per Russo and Heide's (2003:31) more thorough measurement labels which include inside and outside diameter dimensions for major and minor axes as well as the acknowledgment of variable wall thickness along the arc of the rings. These

Site Name	Site ID	Other Lithics Present	
Bonita Bay	8LL717	Limestone (1)	
Cannon's Point	9GN57	Groundstone (1), Quartzite pebbles (596), Quartzite cobble (1), Pieces of chert (15)	
Cedarland	22HC30	Bannerstones, Sandstone slabs	
Chester Field	38BU29	Hammer stone	
Claiborne	22HC35	Steatite (Uncounted)	
Coosaw 2	38BU1866	Pin fragment (1)	
Fig Island 3	38Ch42	Debitage (Uncounted)	
Guana	8SJ2554	Steatite (9)	
Guerard Point	38BU21	Engraver (1)	
Hill Cottage	8SO2	Limestone Metate (1)	
Horr's Island	8CR209	Groundstone balls (4), Limestone (102),	
Joseph Reed	8MT13	Limestone (313), Sandstone (3)	
Lighthouse Point	38CH12	Other lithics (28), Steatite (3)	
McQueen	9Li1648	Core (1), Hammer stone (1), Petrified wood (52)	
Meig's Pasture	80K102	Sandstone hones (2)	
Oxeye	8DU7478	Ochre (1)	
Patent Point	38BU301	Pieces of worked stone (2)	
Rollins	8DU7510	Hammer stone (1), Sandstone (13)	
Sapelo 1	9MC23	Ball (1), Bannerstone (1), Piece of flint (1)	
Sewee Shell Ring	38Ch45	Bead (1)	
Skull Creek rings	38BU8	Grooved abraders (Uncounted)	
St. Catherines	9LI231	Cores (3), Drills (3), Groundstone (1), Hammer stone fragments (3), Pot lids (2)	
Stratton Place	38CH24	Hammer stones (7), Heating stones (8), Pendant (1)	
West Ring	9GN76	Pieces of chert (7), Quartzite pebbles (47)	

Table 4.5: Additional lithic materials recovered from shell ring sites. See Appendix D for more detailed lithics counts and references.

measurements were then compared to the published measurements for those sites. There were situations in which site maps could not be located, in these situations published dimensions were used for the calculations. Unfortunately, there were also eleven reported rings (Bony Hammock, Cane Patch, Coosaw 4, Crow Island, Guerard Point, Hanckel, Hobcaw, Ossabaw 77, Skidaway 21, Skidaway 9 Large, and Skidaway 9 Small) that had to be excluded from this analysis. For these rings either site maps or published dimensions were unavailable, or the sites have yet to be positively confirmed to have been an actual shell ring, either due to erosion or the lack of enough of the ring to allow for reliable diameter measurements.

Shell Rings as Ellipses and Eccentricity Measurements

Despite the multitude of names, such as C-shaped or U-Shaped, that have been used to describe the shapes of shell rings (Appendix E), if we use basic geometric descriptions, all shell rings are either closed or open-ended ellipses. Ellipses are conic sections resulting from a plane intersecting a cone at an arbitrary angle and creating a closed curve (Figure 4.2). Circles are also ellipses, however they represent special situations where a plane intersects a cone perpendicularly to the cone's central axis. This facilitates standardized analysis as one set of calculations can cover all possible ring designs from close to circular shapes to the elongated elliptical shapes. Shell rings themselves are not perfectly symmetrical ellipses since they typically have walls of varying widths, and many have also suffered post-depositional damage from mining and farming practices. For the purposes of this analysis, however, the rings will be treated as symmetrical.

Every ellipse has a major (Figure 4.3) axis (A^I-A) and a minor axis (B^I-B), mirroring Russo and Heide's (2003:31) Major Diameter and Minor Diameter, as well as two foci (F₁ and



Figure 4.2: Ellipses form as a plane intersects with a three-dimensional come. Circles are ellipses formed when the plane intersects perpendicular to the central axis of the cone.



Figure 4.3. Components of an ellipse. The major axis is represented by the line segment (AI-A), and the minor axis by line segment (BI-B), and two foci are represented by the points F1 and F2 with the focal distance represented by the distance f.

F₂). The foci (F₁ and F₂) for perfectly symmetrical ellipses are always equidistant from the center point, which is represented by the value f which is calculated by the following equation,

$$f=\sqrt{a^2-b^2}$$

where a and b are half the distances of the major and minor axes. In order to calculate the eccentricity of an ellipse we must first classify these measures of half the distance for each diameter. Here this is represented by *a* which equals half the value of the major axis and *b* equals half the value of the minor axis.

The eccentricity of an ellipse (ε) is the ratio of the focal distance (*f*) to half the length of the major axis (*a*) (Figure 4.4). More to the point, the calculated eccentricity numerically, represented by the following equation,

$$\varepsilon = \frac{f}{a}$$

represents the degree to which an ellipse is circular or elongated. Eccentricity values range between values of 0 and 1, with the eccentricity value of 0 representing a perfect circle and the eccentricity value of 1 representing a straight line, or fully flattened ellipse. By being able to assign each shell ring an eccentricity value (Appendix F) it is possible to have a descriptive metric that represents the elliptical/circular nature of the ring without having to use potentially biased categorical terms, such as horseshow-shaped or C-shaped, that have been used thus far (for past shape classifications see Appendix E).

Design Trends of Shell Ring Shape and Size through Time

Calculating eccentricity values allows for a metric for shape, but this measure does not give any indication of size of the rings. In order to discuss ring size, this analysis uses the

measured major axis dimension since this metric represents the largest size the rings themselves. What follows is a brief analysis and discussion of the changes of shell ring shape and size through time. To ensure that both eccentricity and major diameter could be used simultaneously within any form analysis a test for covariance was conducted and a scatter plot of the data and a Pearson product-moment correlation were created (Figure 4.5). Each of these tests indicate that while there is a weak positive relationship between the two metrics, shape and size, it is not significant, thus allowing for the use of both variables as unique metrics for analyzing the shell rings (r=0.2629).

As this analysis is examining change in design elements of the shell rings (shape and size) over time, using the earliest recorded date from each ring would be the most appropriate, since that is when ring design would have likely occurred. While later dates may represent the final, and thus more completed stages of the designs of the rings, the general size of the rings would have been defined earlier rather than later, as would to a lesser extent, the general layouts.

When shell ring size, shape, and location are all organized by earliest chronological date of the rings a subtle patterns emerge. The nature of these patterns is different in the two overarching geographical regions. The pattern among the Florida and Gulf Coastal rings revolves less around the shapes (eccentricities) of the rings and more around the sizes of the rings, with eccentricities varying locally but with an increase in ring size seen through time (Table 4.7). The pattern of shell ring construction northward along the Atlantic coast is patterned by both changes in shape and size with a general decrease in size of the rings (with the exception of the Fig Island 1 ring) as well as a general increase in eccentricity (Table 4.8). One thing that should be noted here is that the shell rings of the Atlantic coast exist within a system where they are both found within small groupings of rings that form into complexes as well as being generally close to each



Figure 4.4: Top – Shell ring major diameter in meters and shell ring eccentricity plotted against each other to examine for correlation (Appendix E and VI). A weak positive correlation is present, as represented via the positive slope.

Table 4.6: Florida and Gulf coastal shell ring eccentricities and major diameters and grouped by geographical proximity. The rings are then listed in descending chronological order within each grouping from oldest (top) to youngest (bottom).

Shell Ring	Eccentricity	Major Diameter
Horr's Island	0.86	150
Hill Cottage	0.48	150
Bonita Bay	0.86	230
Oxeye	0.40	165
Rollins	0.57	190
Guana	0.75	222
Meig's Pasture	0.69	88
Claiborne	0.48	200
Cedarland	0.11	165
Joseph Reed	0.74	293

other along the coast. In contrast, the rings of Florida and the Gulf coast are much further from each other and do not exist in complexes at all.

There appears to be a consistency and hence an intentionality to the shapes of the rings, at least in different areas. No matter what the rings were used for they were clearly being maintained over long periods of time, which means their shapes likely held some significance to their makers (Russo 2004; Thompson 2007). As seen from the data compiled here, shell ring design runs the gamut in both size and eccentricity, with one obvious pattern being that the rings in Florida are both bigger and more eccentric than those to the north along the Atlantic coast or to the west along the Gulf coast, indicating that there may indeed be social divides in the design of these rings.

Shell Ring	Eccentricity	Major Diameter
Oxeye	0.40	165
Cannon's Point	0.74	71
West Ring	0.80	69
Sapelo 1	0.26	93
Sapelo 2	0.60	75
Sapelo 3	0.69	55
St. Catherines	0.08	70
McQueen	0.17	71
Coosaw 1	0.32	36
Coosaw 2	0.45	36
Coosaw 3	0.30	34
Fig Island 2	0.27	72
Fig Island 3	0.21	56
Fig Island 1	0.54	89
A1d	0.45	56
Aulu Sawaa Mound	0.43	50 75
Sewee Mound	0.38	13

Table 4.7: Atlantic coastal shell ring eccentricities and major diameters grouped by geographical proximity with the southernmost rings at the top. The rings are then listed within descending chronological order within each grouping.

Chapter 5

Geospatial and Temporal Analysis of the Late Archaic Shell Rings

The first thing that must always be kept in mind when discussing the shell rings of the North American southeast is that they are but one site type constructed and used by coastal foragers. These sites did not form, did not exist, and did not become abandoned in a "ring-only" vacuum. Instead, their history of use exists within a larger historical network of foraging sites (Crusoe and DePratter 1976; DePratter 1975; Sassaman 1993; Trinkley 1980). Furthermore, as Thompson (2007) and Sanger (2015) have shown, the rings themselves experience variation in their use and meaning through time. Thus, any attempt to assign a single use or meaning to shell rings will inevitably be disproven; instead, any analysis of shell ring use must consider all of the data both in terms of both geography and time. To this end, this analysis will examine the data collected in the database chronologically from the earliest evidence of shell ring use through to their eventual abandonment.

Shell Ring Origins and the Floridian/Gulf Coastal Trajectory

When one examines all of the various lines of data (chronology, geography, and materiality) from all of the rings, in conjunction with a synthesis of shell ring theories, three significant and intersecting behavioral trajectories can be discerned within the contexts of the Late Archaic shell rings. The earliest of these trajectories is that of the Floridian/Gulf Coastal shell rings, which is followed by an Atlantic Coastal behavioral trajectory that then collides with, and is altered by, the Stallings ceramic trajectory that stems from the Savannah River valley. The following discussion is a first attempt to track these various trajectories with the aim of placing the data of the shell rings into an historical context.

Horr's Island, 8CR209; Mounds A–D :8CR206–208, 211



Figure 5.1 Topographic map of Horr's Island shell ring and mound, adapted from Russo 2006:94.

The earliest of the shell ring trajectories is that of the Floridian/Gulf Coastal rings. Within this trajectory, two shell rings vie for being the earliest shell ring in the southeast: the Oxeye shell ring and the Horr's Island shell ring. While our current understanding, based upon available measured chronometric data, may place the Oxeye shell ring as the oldest of the physical shell rings, this study suggests that the mounding of shell into an elliptical pattern may have originated along the Gulf coast at or around the Horr's Island shell ring. This idea is based upon a number of pieces of information. The first is the chronometric data: while the Oxeye ring may have the earliest measured date in relation to shell ring activity, the Horr's Island ring still possesses some of the earliest shell ring dates (Appendix B) that are similar in age to those from the Oxeye shell rings making them at least contemporaneous. In addition to these dates, however, there are associated mounds close to the Horr's Island shell ring, Mound A, Mound B, and Mound C (Figure 5.1), that have all been dated and pre-date the shell ring itself, indicating continuous shell mounding behavior leading up to the shell ring's initial creation (Appendix G). To date, such pre-ring mounding activity has not been detected at the Oxeye shell ring. In addition, post-holes,

hearth features, and pit features, all indications of habitation practices were also uncovered during excavations at the Horr's Island shell ring (McMichael 1982; Russo 1991, 1994). The essence of the coastal practices that were taking place during the early stages of shell rings use, specifically at Horr's Island, are described by Russo and Quitmyer (2008): "Instead of seasonal migrations from the interior, this evidence indicates that the productive estuaries were exploited from large, permanently-occupied coastal villages as well as from smaller logistical foraging camps during the Archaic period." (Russo and Quitmyer 2008: 239).

In addition to these earlier mound dates, the Horr's Island ring (Figure 5.2) follows more closely to the general Floridian/Gulf Coastal ring tradition in that it is a very large, open ended, more elliptical construction, whereas the Oxeye ring (Figure 5.2), while larger than most of the Atlantic rings, still possesses characteristics of the Atlantic Coastal tradition in that it is more circular and possesses both pottery and baked clay objects, indicating that it may be a transitional ring between the two traditions. This Floridian/Gulf Coastal tradition is defined by very large, open ended constructions. In addition to their size, the rings of this tradition tend to be individual rings, with significant travel distance between rings. Many of the rings following this trajectory are either pre-ceramic, or non-ceramic and it is not until much later within this trajectory that the surrounding social context includes ceramics use.

Another reason to view the Oxeye ring as a transitional ring between the Floridian/Gulf Coastal and the Atlantic is that after the Oxeye ring becomes abandoned, no other shell ring activity occurs in the immediate area of the St. John's River until later in time causing there to be a distinct geographical separation between the shell ring users of the two traditions. Eventually, the head of the St. John's River does experience more shell ring activity, and these later rings follow almost exclusively the Floridian/Gulf Coast tradition, but by the time that this occurs, the



Figure 5.2: Active shell ring locations in Florida and along the Gulf Coast between ca 4700 and ca 4500 BP. Shell ring topology images modified from Russo 2006:94, 96.For complete listing of radiocarbon dates see Appendix B.





Atlantic Coastal trajectory will already have spread all along the Atlantic coast.

Not long after Horr's Island's construction, a second ring following the Floridian/Gulf Coastal tradition appears along the Gulf Coast, the Hill Cottage ring (Figure 5.3). Both Horr's Island and Hill Cottage are relatively contemporaneous and experience activity for approximately the same period of time. In addition, both also appear to cease to be used around the same time as well.

After another construction hiatus, and after the Horr's Island and Hill Cottage rings had become a part of the Gulf coastal landscape, a continuous series of five new Floridian/Gulf Coastal shell rings spring up in chronological succession: Bonita Bay, Rollins, Meig's Pasture, Claiborne, and Guana. The dispersed nature of their locations begs the question of other potentially unfound rings in the vast regions between them. While the Floridian/Gulf Coastal tradition consists of large singular rings and not complexes of smaller rings, and while it is entirely possible that these few rings are indeed the only rings that are a part of this trajectory, we should not discount the fact that this coastline has seen much in the way of changes both natural and man-made that may have affected the visibility of shell ring constructions.

The Bonita Bay ring (Figure 5.4) was constructed around the height of activity of both the Horr's Island and Hill Cottage rings and, as can be seen, could still be found within an immediate region of these two rings. According to the currently available dates, by the onset of construction of both of the Rollins (Figure 5.4) and Meig's Pasture (Figure 5.5) rings, both Horr's Island and Hill Cottage appear to have been at, or very near, the end of their use-histories. Additionally, Meig's Pasture and Rollins were the first two rings of the Floridian/Gulf Coastal tradition that were constructed further from the original grouping, which represents the spread of Floridian/Gulf Coastal tradition along the Florida and Gulf coasts.







Figure 5.5: Active shell ring locations in Florida and along the Gulf Coast between ca 4100 and ca 3900 BP. Shell ring topology images modified from Russo 2006:151, 157. For complete listing of radiocarbon dates see Appendix B.









The final rings in this trajectory, the Guana and Claiborne rings, were actually constructed after the use-histories of both Horr's Island and Hill Cottage. The earliest dates that we have from the Guana ring coincide closely with the latest dates that we have from the Bonita Bay ring. This indicates that at the time of Guana's construction potentially none of the rings in the founding region were being utilized. This suggests one of three options: 1) the people who were utilizing the original rings had moved elsewhere, perhaps to these new sites; 2) the people using the rings felt that the rings had reached their maximum design and thus construction of the rings stopped but other currently undetectable/undetected activities continued; or 3) the people using these original rings remained in the region of the rungs but turned to pursuits other than creating shell mounds. It should be noted here that the Rollins ring, and then the Guana ring, represent a movement of this tradition back up along the St. John's River, possibly even to return to a potential founding area, with the Rollins ring being built very near to the location of the Oxeye ring, and the Guana ring is not much further south.

All of the rings mentioned so far belong to the Floridian/Gulf Coastal trajectory that consists of constructing large rings, some so large that they even possess attached ringlets and some are even accompanied by other mounding activities, and all are pre- or non-ceramic. There are two additional rings that are grouped in with this tradition, the Cedarland and Joseph Reed rings (Figure 5.6); however, due to their much later dating (ca. 3200 and 3400 cal yr BP), they only follow the architectural tradition that they stem from, and the people of both rings have modified the trajectory by employing ceramics. By 3400 cal yr B.P. ceramics had spread out throughout many parts of the lower southeast, including to these areas along the Gulf coast. Again, as with the Gulf coast, the Joseph Reed ring raises questions of possible loss of shell ring

sites along the Atlantic coast of Florida in that the nearest shell ring along the coast from Joseph Reed is the Guana ring which is over 300 km away.

Stallings Trajectory

The oldest pottery traditions in North America are the fiber tempered wares of the Stallings tradition that arose within the Savannah River (Sassaman 1993:16; Sassaman and Rudolphi 2001:409). The Stallings pottery tradition developed within the network of waterway in and around the middle Savannah River valley and later spread down to the Atlantic coast (Sassaman and Rudolphi 2001:409). The initial development of pottery is currently thought to have occurred inland and not on the coast. Initial Stallings pottery use occurs about 5000 cal yr B.P. and is associated with the mounding of freshwater shellfish, which were not formed into rings. It was not until after pottery had already been developed that the fiber-tempered pottery of the Stallings tradition became a fixture within the practices of coastal shell ring users (Sassaman and Rudolphi 2001:410).

The Stallings people along the Savannah and nearby Coastal Plain drainages had direct interactions with non-ceramic using groups in the interior; specifically, there was trade between them and the soapstone users of the middle and upper Savannah River. As Sassaman (1993:215) argues, the initial development of pottery may have been a result of these interactions and the desire to separate from the use of soapstone, which due to the lack of stone materials on the Coastal Plain would have forced the Stallings people to acquire their soapstone from those upriver. After separating themselves from the demands of trade with the uplands the Stallings culture moved south to the coast where it began to interact with the coastally adapted shell ring users.

Atlantic Coastal Shell Ring Trajectory

While shell rings may have originated in the Floridian peninsula, the practice quickly spread northward along the Atlantic coast, presumably via the peoples who built the Oxeye shell ring. Oxeye is potentially a part of the earliest wave of shell rings following the approach initiated in the Floridian/Gulf Coastal Trajectory, however, it becomes the seed for all of the Atlantic coastal traditions in terms of other shared practices. After the construction of the Oxeye ring, a series of rings appear to the northeast, namely Cannon's Point ring (Figure 5.8) on St. Simons Island, then St. Catherines ring on St. Catherines Island, then West ring again on St. Simons Island (Figure 5.9), and finally the Sapelo 1 ring on Sapelo Island (Figure 5.10). All of these rings are built within a few hundred year period and all along the Georgia coast. This is what I call the Atlantic Coastal Shell Ring Trajectory.

The spread and construction of shell rings within the Atlantic Coastal Trajectory is much more rapid than the Floridian/Gulf Coastal Trajectory. In fact almost as soon as the practice of constructing shell rings reaches the southern Atlantic Slope, this practice immediately becomes intertwined with the Stallings Trajectory and the social practices that were coming out of the Savannah River Valley, including, as Sassaman has succinctly put it, the unique confluence of social and economic behaviors that were a part of this trajectory. This combination of trajectories alters the practice of shell ring use within Atlantic Coastal Trajectory from what is seen with the Floridian/Gulf Coastal Trajectory.

Recently, Thompson (2007) showed that there was most likely a change in tradition and use, a change in trajectory, which occurs within shell ring sites through time. In short, Thompson (2007) recommended a developmental model for shell ring formation that, following Binford's archaeology of place (1982), would suggest that the changing formation of the rings would have



Figure 5.8: Active shell ring locations in Atlantic Coast between ca 4700 and ca 4500 BP. Shell ring topology images modified from Russo 2006:85, 96. For complete listing of radiocarbon dates see Appendix B.



Figure 5.9: Active shell ring locations in Atlantic Coast between ca 4500 and ca 4300 BP. Shell ring topology images modified from Sanger 2015:152. For complete listing of radiocarbon dates see Appendix B.


Figure 5.10: Active shell ring locations in Atlantic Coast between ca 4300 and ca 4100 BP. Shell ring topology images modified from Russo 2006:87, 88. For complete listing of radiocarbon dates see Appendix B.

tied in to the changing function of the rings. This model proposes that a ring may have begun as a habitation center consisting of circular grouping of shell pits or heaps that eventually formed into a ring. While continuing as a habitation site, the newly formed ring may have shifted activities either inside and/or outside of the ring's boundary. As shell rings became more permanent in both their architecture and in their continued social use, the function of the ring may have shifted from that of purely habitation to that of ceremonial location, and then may have progressed into a fully ceremonial center by the end of its use life. Thompson goes on to state that this model is, of course, not unilineal, and each ring should be tested to see what stages are present.

The nature of this change has been detailed by the recent work of Sanger (2015), who was able to distinguish a much more constrained period of time for when this shift in function may have occurred. In short, the number of noticeable differences between the St Catherines shell ring and the McQueen shell ring on St. Catherines Island, indicate that this trajectory shift must have occurred prior to, or at, the construction of the McQueen ring around 4400 to 4200 cal yr B.P. The marked differences between the rings that led Sanger to these conclusions are that despite there being similar volumes of materials recovered, at the St. Catherines ring only 1% of the recovered pottery represents decorated vessels, whereas at the McQueen ring at least 15% of the recovered pottery is decorated. Additionally, the St. Catherines ring possesses over 3000 baked clay objects but the McQueen ring only possesses 15. Along the coast, these objects represent the utilitarian function of heating stones, indicating a major shift in local practices between the constructions of the two rings. One other major difference between the two rings is the curation of the space and design that went into the construction of the rings. The St.

Catherines ring was constructed on top of the ground surface. In contrast, when the McQueen ring was built the topsoil was removed indicating that there was a planned design for the ring.

More than likely any ring built within the Atlantic Coastal tradition after this shift in shell ring function, was then built within this new behavioral trajectory. Thus, we can then examine the rings of the Atlantic Coastal Trajectory as those rings that were potentially built before, during, and after this transition, and we can then examine the data from the rings with this new understanding. As of right now, with the chronometric information that we currently possess, none of the shell rings that were built north of the Savannah River, north of the origins of the Stallings Ceramic Trajectory, were built fully prior to this. There are, however, a number of rings that were built at or around this transitional time along the South Carolina coast. These rings are Fig Island 2, Auld, and Sewee. Unfortunately, there are a series of rings both from the head of the Savannah River all the way up through the South Carolina coast (Figure 5.11) that lack any precise dating, thus we can only speculate based upon their architectural and material characteristics as to when they may have been built. Without having a precise understanding of this transition it is harder to tell which rings being built during this transitional period were indeed affected by the general shift in shell ring function during their initial construction and use.

Interestingly a number of the rings built at this transitional period, even the ones built along South Carolina, are all similar in size with the main difference being the presence of sand tempered pottery along with fiber tempered pottery. It is also during this time that the pattern of rings built within complexes occurs. These two factors, the diversification of ceramics as well as the intentional design and construction of specialty purpose ring sites, all speak to a change in the behaviors surrounding the purpose of the rings.







Figure 5.12: Active shell ring locations in Atlantic Coast between ca 3900 and ca 3700 BP. For complete listing of radiocarbon dates see Appendix B.

The Cane Patch ring on Ossabaw Island and the Skidaway ring on Skidaway Island are two of the rings that do not possess any currently available radiocarbon dates. However, these rings are similar in size to both St. Catherines, Sapelo 1, and Cannons Point. In addition, these rings possess solely fiber tempered pottery and are built on individual barrier islands, all south of the Savannah River. This confluence of factors potentially places Cane Patch and Skidaway rings at around or before the transition.

Some of the general trends of those rings that were constructed after the St Catherines transition (Figure 5.12), is that sites, even along the Georgia coast, possess both sand tempered and fiber tempered pottery. Also, rings, especially those at ring complexes, become smaller with each new iteration, with transition rings being between 65 to 80 meters in diameter, and post transitional rings at complexes becoming as small as 30 to 45 meters in diameter. This could be indicative of either smaller and more dispersed groups of individuals utilizing the rings, or it could be a sign that the ceremonial and ritual aspect of the rings had reached such a level that only certain individuals were allowed to participate with the activities that occurred within the rings.

This Atlantic Coastal tradition began with the rings being circular habitation foci, with potentials for social gatherings or feasting events, yet still maintaining a more utilitarian function. When this trajectory combines with the Stallings Trajectory that came down from the Savannah River, which included the use of ceramic technology that had been created with the intention of social separation from the upper Savannah River soapstone users. The shell rings then become more ritualized and moved towards ever increasing exclusionary practices. This new mixed trajectory, once formed, spread as a new tradition of rings as potentially more ceremonial and religious with associated habitation. It is also during this transition period that we

see a technological shift in tempering with the introduction of sand tempered pottery along the Atlantic coastal region. This does not imply that the cultural transitions affected the change in technology, instead the change co-occurred within the milieu that was the changing social landscape. Fiber tempering continues to be used throughout the region until the very end of the Late Archaic period and even co-occurs at sites with sand tempered pottery.

Another of the noticeable features and marked changes is the creation of less inclusionary shell rings that can be seen in the shrinking of ring sizes and the maintenance of more prepared circular shapes. While the shape of a circle is commonly thought of as an indication of egalitarianism as defined by social space theory (Grøn 1992), and indeed circles do indicate this in certain situations, the shell rings themselves, however, being circular creates a divided interior-exterior structure where many of the activities being conducted inside of the ring structure cannot be seen by those outside of the rings. The size change of the rings is also indicative of more exclusionary practices in that these smaller rings mean that smaller numbers of people can participate, unless all activity were to occur outside of the ring structure.

In summary, there are three hypothesized behavioral trajectories within the shell ring using peoples. We begin with the Floridian/Gulf Coastal trajectory of shell ring users, that consist of large, mounded, open ended rings that, while by their nature we may think of them as hierarchical simply on size, in actuality far more people could participate in the activities occurring at these rings by being open ended and by being large. These rings of the Floridian/Gulf Costal trajectory are not closed off ritual spaces. From the very outset, these rings were clearly not being impacted by the inclusion of either of the other trajectories, and it is only after some time that this tradition moved back over to the Atlantic coast, let alone included ceramics. Then there is the Atlantic Coastal Trajectory of shell ring users that possess rings that are smaller, more carefully designed, circular, and exclusionary rings, which are potentially experiencing higher levels of behavioral structure, and with potentially more hierarchy, and increased power differentials. This ring using trajectory was then influenced by the final trajectory, that of the Stallings Ceramic Trajectory that brought with it a regional socio-political agenda and when combined together altered the Atlantic Coastal ring behavior.

Chapter 6

Conclusions and Future Directions

One of the main take-aways from this analysis, as well as one of the main points that must always be considered when studying the shell rings of North America, is simply that the shell rings are dynamic structures. While there are indeed some consistent patterns within the data, the shell rings and their uses are unique both from place to place as well as through time. There is no doubt that there is an intentionality to the shape, as well as the material used for construction, this cannot be ignored. Rings of mounded shell clearly possessed some meaning, though the meaning and purpose for use of this unique architecture and its continued maintenance most certainly changed both spatially and temporally. Furthermore, due to their unique nature, shell rings provide insight into the complex nature of the human landscape, as well as providing ever more evidence for the broad range of possibilities for forager behavior.

The location of shell rings are broadly determined by access to coastal marsh systems and access to major inland waterways, yet the individual architecture of the rings (shape, size, and orientation) do not appear to be affected by any known natural environmental factor, leaving open the full realm of human practices. Furthermore, the patterns highlighted within this analysis are not governed by environmental factors as much as they are bounded by the social environment and governed by social adaptations and choices.

It appears that the practice of mounding shell into rings began within the Floridian peninsula, with the creation of circular settlements or villages with shell rings representing some of the earliest sedentary settlements along the Atlantic and Gulf coasts. As these locations gained use/practice-history, they, not unlike other man-made artifacts, would have gained meaning for coastal dwellers through time (Thompson 2007). This analysis attempts to highlight the three

general practice trajectories of shell ring use: a Floridian/Gulf Coastal tradition, an Atlantic coastal tradition, and a later Atlantic coastal tradition that has been impacted by the socio-political trajectory of the Stallings culture of the Savannah River valley.

Bringing all of this data together has, if nothing else, highlighted future directions for research. Due to the natures of past shell ring projects, the nature of the specific data within the shell ring database is, as Sanger so eloquently put it, quixotic (Sanger 2010). This regional analysis was based in large part by considering changes through time, but there are currently a total of 163 dates that have been recorded from 32 of the rings. The distribution of these dates is such that 85 of the dates, a full 52%, belong to only five of the rings, with the remaining 78 dates being spread out over the remaining 27 shell rings. More intentional chronometric projects would begin to provide balance to this data set as well as, hopefully, provide newer and better understandings.

Another example of the nature of these data is that of all of the Late Archaic shell rings 12, a full 24%, have had little more than initial pedestrian surveys conducted since their rediscoveries in modern times. Simply gaining dimensional measures from these rings may in fact greatly change how we view the various trajectories along the coasts as these architectural features can then be analyzed. Furthermore, for these untested rings excavations at these rings would provide more of the material culture component, such as ceramic typologies, that could provide insight into the changes that were occurring along the coast.

An additional direction for future research stems from climate changes and the effects on people and their behaviors. When one stops to consider why humans are in fact affected by such things as drought or sea-level rise it is in part that we become tied or constrained to certain locations due to expenditures of time and energy in the creation of these locations, as well as to the fact that certain locations have historical meaning. These ties and restrictions in turn can force behavior and/or practice adaptions due to the perceived lack of mobility. The more important a certain location is to a people, the harder and/or more hurtful the loss of these locations can be. Unfortunately for the coastal dwellers of the southeastern Archaic, the innovative approach to living via increased sedentism along the water's edge, led to a pseudosettled lifestyle, which in turn led to constructions and traditions that were coastally dependent. If the shell rings of the Late Archaic had indeed gained social, political, or economic significance and relied on maintaining a connection to the coastal environment, a more detailed study of shell ring locations, chronologies, changes in material culture, and sea level fluctuations could provide both insight into past human adaptations in the face of climate change as well as informing potential future scenarios.

Another aspect of this project was the creation of a database of the shell rings. While this database is by no means as extensive as other big data projects, it still contains a large amount of information that had to be collected, organized, and analyzed. This process did take longer than the author had originally estimated , however, the end result was a collection of spreadsheets that will make future shell ring studies more robust and complete by allowing researchers access to the full array of shell ring data for comparison and use, thus allaying the potential 'garbage in' scenario of missing data.

The goals of this project were as follows: (1) to bring together into a single location as much of the currently available data from the Late Archaic shell rings; (2) to illustrate the utility of possessing all of this data in a centralized location by providing a cursory analysis of the data as a whole; and (3) to highlight the gaps in the data to potentially guide future research agendas. The database itself will continue to evolve as more data are added and as projects continue to occur. There are potentials for expanding the database to include the shell rings of the Woodland period as well as by joining it with other databases of different site types or coastal environmental information. This project was never meant to be a finished product; instead it serves as a launching point for furthering research on the human occupation of the prehistoric southeastern coasts.

References

Anderson, David G.

- 1975 Inferences from Distribution Studies of Prehistoric Artifacts in the Coastal Plain of South Carolina. *Southeastern Archaeological Conference, Bulletin* 18:180–194.
- 1996 Modeling regional settlement in the Archaic period southeast. In Archaeology of the Mid-Holocene Southeast, edited by Kenneth E. Sassaman and David G. Anderson, pp. 157– 176. University Press of Florida, Gainesville.

Anderson, David G. and Glen T. Hanson

1988 Early Archaic Settlements in the Southeastern United States: A Case Study from the Savannah River Valley. *American Antiquity* 53: 262-286.

Anderson, David G., Michael Russo, and Kenneth E. Sassaman

2007 Mid-Holocene Cultural Dynamics in Southeastern North America. In *Climate Change Cultural Dynamics: A Global Perspective on Mid-Holocene Transitions*, edited by David G. Anderson, Kirk A. Maasch, and Daniel H. Sandweiss, pp. 457-489. Academic Press, New York.

Anderson, David G., D. Shane Miller, Stephen J. Yerka, J. Christopher Gillam, Erik N. Johanson, Derek T. Anderson, Albert C. Goodyear, and Ashley M. Smallwood

2010 PIDBA (Paleoindian Database of the Americas) 2010: Current Status and Findings. *Archaeology of Eastern North America* 38:63-90.

Anderson, David G. and Kenneth E. Sassaman

2012 *Recent Developments in Southeastern Archaeology: From Colonization to Complexity.* The SAA Press: Washington D.C.

Andrefsky, William

2005 *Lithics: Macroscopic Approaches to Analysis: Second Edition.* Cambridge Manuals in Archaeology. Cambridge University press: Cambridge.

Ayers, Harvard G.

1983 The Occupation of Ridgetop Sites in the Blue Ridge Mountains by Savannah River Archaic Peoples. *Southeastern Archaeological Conference Bulletin* 20:1-4.

Bense, Judith A.

1994 Archaeology of the Southeastern United States: Paleoindian to World War I. Academic Press: New York.

Binford, Lewis R.

- 1962 Archaeology as Anthropology. American Antiquity 28(2):217-225.
- 1982 The Archaeology of Place. Journal of Anthropological Archaeology 1(1):5-31.

Bragg, Laura M.

1925 An Indian Shell Culture in South Carolina. *The Charleston Museum Quarterly* 1(2):3-7.

Bruseth, James E.

1991 Poverty Point Development as Seen at the Cedarland and Claiborne Sites, Southern Mississippi. In *The Poverty Point Culture: Local Manifestations, Subsistence Practices, and Trade Networks*, edited by Kathleen M. Byrd, pp. 7-25. Geoscience and Man 29. Louisiana State University, Baton Rouge.

Cable, John S.

1997 The Ceremonial Mound Theory: New Evidence for the Possible Ceremonial Function of Shell Rings. From South Carolina Archaeology Week Poster, *Shell Rings of the Late Archaic*. South Carolina Institute of Archaeology and Anthropology, University of South Carolina, Columbia.

Caldwell, Joseph R.

1958 Trend and Tradition in the Prehistory of the Eastern United States. Memoir no. 88. American Anthropological Association, Scientific Papers Volume 10, Illinois State Museum. 60(6) Part 2

Calmes, Alan

- 1967 Test Excavations at Two Late Archaic Sites on Hilton Head Island, Beaufort County, South Carolina. Paper presented at the Southeastern Archaeological Conference, Macon, Georgia, November 9, 1967.
- 1968 Test Excavations at Three Late Archaic Shell-Ring Mounds on Hilton Head Island, South Carolina. *Southeastern Archaeological Conference Bulletin* 8:45-48.

Claassen, Cheryl

2010 *Feasting With Shellfish in the Southern Ohio Valley*. The University of Tennessee Press, Knoxville.

Colaninno, Carol E.

2011 Examining Ichthyofaunal Remains for Evidence of Fishing Technologies Employed in Georgia Estuaries During the Late Archaic Period. Southeastern Archaeology 30(2):337-350.

Colquhoun, Donald J. Mark J. and Brooks

1983 *Variation in Sea Level on the South Carolina Coastal Plain.* Department of Geology, University of South.

Crusoe, Donald and Chester DePratter

1976 A New Look at the Georgia Coastal Archaic. *The Florida Anthropologist* 29(1): 1-23.

DePratter, Chester

- 1975 The Archaic in Georgia. *Early Georgia* 3(1): 1-16.
- 1976 *The Shellmound Archaic on the Georgia Coast.* Unpublished Master's Thesis, Department of Anthropology, University of Georgia, Athens.
- 1977 Environmental Changes on the Georgia Coast during the Prehistoric Period. *Early Georgia* 5(1-2): 1-14.
- 1978 Prehistoric Settlement and Subsistence Systems, Skidaway Island, Georgia. *Early Georgia* 6(1-2): 65-80.
- 1979 Shellmound Archaic on the Georgia Coast. South Carolina Antiquities 11(2):1-69.
- DePratter, Chester B. and James D. Howard
- 1980 Indian Occupation and Geologic History of the Georgia Coast: A 5,000 Year Summary. In Excursions in Southeastern Geology, the Archaeology-Geology of the Georgia Coast, edited By James D. Howard, Chester B. DePratter, and Robert W. Frey, pp. 1-65. Guidebook 20.
- Dickel, David
- 1992 An Archaeological and Historical Survey of Bonita Springs, Parcel Three, Lee County, Florida. AHC Technical Report 43. Archaeological and Historical Conservancy, Davie, Florida.

Diebold, Francis X.

2012 On the Origin(s) and Development of the Term "Big Data". PIER Working Paper 12-037. Penn Institute for Economic Research, Philadelphia, PA.

Dorroh, Rita J.

1971 *The Vegetation of Indian Shell Mounds and Rings of the South Carolina Coast.* Master's thesis, Department of Biology, University of South Carolina, Columbia.

Drayton, John

1802 *A View of South Carolina, As Respects Her Natural and Civil Concerns.* https://archive.org/details/viewofsouthcarol00dray. Accessed November, 15, 2013.

Edwards, William E.

1965 A Preliminary Report on the Sewee Mound Shell Midden, Charleston County, South Carolina. Report submitted to the U.S. Forest Service, Ms. on file, South Carolina Institute of Archaeology and Anthropology, University of South Carolina, Columbia. Ferguson, Terry A.

1980 *Prehistoric Soapstone Procurement in Northwestern South Carolina*. A Thesis Presented for the Master of Arts Degree: The University of Tennessee, Knoxville.

Flannery, Regina

1943 *Some Notes on a Few Sites on Beaufort County, South Carolina*. Anthropological Papers No. 21. From *Bureau of American Ethnology Bulletin 133*, pp. 143-153. Smithsonian Institution, Washington.

Ford, James A.

1966 Early Formative Cultures in Georgia and Florida. American Antiquity 3:781-799.

Gagliano, Sherwood M. and Clarence H. Webb

1970 Archaic-Poverty-Point Transition at the Pearl River Mouth. In *The Poverty Point Culture*, edited by Bettye J. Broyles and Clarence H. Webb, pp. 47-72. Southeastern Archaeological Conference Bulletin No. 12, Morgantown, West Virgina.

Gibson, Donald S.

2010 Nothing but the River's Flood': Late Archaic Diaspora or Disengagement in the Lower Mississippi Valley and Southeastern North America. In *Trend, Tradition, and Turmoil: What Happened to the Southeastern Archaic?*, edited by David Hurst Thomas and Matthew C. Sanger, pp. 33-44. American Museum of Natural History Anthropological Papers Number 93, New York.

Gibson, Jon L. and Philip J. Carr

2004 Big Mounds, Big Rings, Big Power. In *Signs of Power: The Rise of Cultural Complexity in the Southeast*, edited by Jon L. Gibson and Philip J. Carr, pp. 1-9. University of Alabama Press: Tuscaloosa.

Grøn, Ole

1991 A Method for Reconstruction of Social Structure in Prehistoric Societies and Examples of Practical Application. In Social Space: Human Spatial Behaviour in Dwellings and Settlements, Ole Grøn, Ericka Engelstad, and Inge Lindblom (editors), pp. 100-117. Odense University Press.

Habu, Junko

2004 Ancient Jomon of Japan. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.

Heide, Gregory

2002 Mapping the Fig Island Shell Rings. In *The Fig Island Ring Complex (38CH42): Coastal Adaptation and the Question of Ring Function in the Late Archaic,* edited by Rebecca Saunders and Michael Russo, pp. 67-84. Grant No. 45-01-16441, South Carolina Department Archives and History, Columbia.

- Heide, Gregory and Michael Russo
- 2003 *Investigations of the Coosaw Island Shell Ring Complex (38BU1866).* Submitted to the South Carolina Department of Natural Resources, Heritage Trust Program, Columbia. Copy on file, Southeast Archaeological Center, National Parks Service, Tallahassee.
- Hemmings, E. Thomas
- 1969 An Early Ceramic Site near Beaufort, South Carolina. *Institute of Archeology and Anthropology Notebook* 1(6-9):6-7.
- 1970a *Buzzard's Island (38CH23)*. National Register of Historic Places Inventory Nomination Form. National Park Service, Washington.
- 1970b *Hanckel Mound (38CH7)*. National Register of Historic Places Inventory Nomination Form. National Park Service, Washington.
- 1970c *Horse Island (38CH14)*. National Register of Historic Places Inventory Nomination Form. National Park Service, Washington.
- 1970d Auld Mound or Yough Hall Plantation Shell Ring (38CH41). National Register of Historic Places Inventory Nomination Form. National Park Service, Washington.
- 1970e *Fig Island (38CH42)*. National Register of Historic Places Inventory Nomination Form. National Park Service, Washington.
- 1970f Preliminary Report of Excavations at Fig Island, South Carolina. *Institute of Archeology* and Anthropology Notebook 2(9-12):9-15.
- 1970g *Sewee Shell Ring (38CH45).* National Register of Historic Places Inventory Nomination Form. National Park Service, Washington.
- 1970h Emergence of Formative life along the Atlantic coast of the southeast. *Southeastern Archaeological Conference Bulletin* 13:51-55.
- 1972 Prehistoric Subsistence and Settlement on the Upper Savannah River. *Institute of Archeology and Anthropology Notebook* 4(4):87-96.
- Hill, Jr. Matthew E.
- 2007 A Moveable Feast: Variation in Faunal Resource Use Among Central and Western North American Paleoindian Sites. *American Antiquity* 72: 417-438.
- Hoyt, John H. and John R. Hails
- 1967 Pleistocene Shoreline Sediments in Coastal Georgia: Deposition and Modification. *Science* 155(3769):1541-1543.

Jefferies, Richard W

2004 Late Middle Archaic Exchange and Interaction in the North American Midcontinent. In *Native American Interactions: Multiscalar Analyses and Interpretations in the Eastern Woodlands*, edited by Michael S. Nassaney and Kenneth E. Sassaman, pp. 73-99. University of Tennessee Press, Knoxville.

Judge, Christopher and Steven D. Smith

1991 Acquiring the Past for the Future: The South Carolina Heritage Trust Statewide Assessment of Cultural Sites. Research Manuscript Series 213, South Carolina Institute of Archaeology and Anthropology, Columbia.

Kelly, Robert L.

- 1995 *The Foraging Spectrum: Diversity in Hunter-Gatherer Lifeways*. Smithsonian Institution Press: Washington D.C.
- Koç, Nalân, Eystein Jansen, and Haflidi Haflidason
- 1993 Paleoceanographic Reconstructions of Surface Ocean Conditions in the Greenland, Iceland and Norwegian Seas through the Last 14 ka Based on Diatoms. *Quaternary Science Reviews* 12:115-140.
- Lawrence, David R. (editor)
- 1989a *Studies of Southeastern United States Aboriginal Shell Rings, Part 1.* Department of Geological Sciences, University of South Carolina, Columbia.
- 1989b *Studies of Southeastern United States Aboriginal Shell Rings, Part 2.* Department of Geological Sciences, University of South Carolina, Columbia.
- 1989c Studies of Southeastern United States Aboriginal Shell Rings, Part 3. Department of Geological Sciences, University of South Carolina, Columbia.
- 1991a Studies of Southeastern United States Aboriginal Shell Rings, Part 4. Department of Geological Sciences, University of South Carolina, Columbia
- 1991b Studies of Southeastern United States Aboriginal Shell Rings, Part 5. Department of Geological Sciences, University of South Carolina, Columbia

Lohr, Steve

2013 The Origins of 'Big Data': An Etymological Detective Story. NY Time Website: http://bits.blogs.nytimes.com/2013/02/01/the-origins-of-big-data-an-etymologicaldetective-story/?_r=0 Bits Blog. February 1, 2013.Accessed April 2, 2015. Mannino, Marcello A. and Kenneth D. Thomas

2002 Depletion of a Resource? The Impact of Prehistoric Human Foraging on Intertidal Mollusk Communities and its Significance for Human Settlement, Mobility, and Dispersal. *World Archaeology* 33:452-474.

Marcus, Gary and Earnest Davis

2014 Eight (No, Nine!) Problems with Big Data. NY Times The Opinion Pages. http://www.nytimes.com/2014/04/07/opinion/eight-no-nine-problems-with-bigdata.html? r=0 Accessed April 19, 2014.

Marrinan, Rochelle

- 1975 *Ceramics, molluscs, and sedentism: the Late Archaic period on the Georgia Coast.* Ph.D. Dissertation, University of Florida.
- 1976 Assessment of Subsistence Strategies as Evidenced by Shell Ring Sites. *Southeastern Archaeological Conference Bulletin* 19:61-63.
- 2010 Two Late Archaic period shell rings, St. Simon's Island, Georgia. In *Trend, Tradition, and Turmoil: What Happened to the Southeastern Archaic?*, edited by David Hurst Thomas and Matthew C. Sanger, pp. 71-102. American Museum of Natural History Anthropological Papers Number 93, New York.

Marquardt, William H.

2010 Shell Mounds in the Southeast: Middens, Monuments, Temple Mounds, Rings, or Works? *American Antiquity* 75:551-571.

Mathis, Mark A. and Jeffrey Crow

1983 *The Prehistory of North Carolina: An Archaeological Symposium*. Division of Archives and History, North Carolina Department of Cultural Resources; Raleigh.

Mayewski, Paul A.

2009 Ancient American paleoclimate from ice cores: a framework for archaeological interpretations. In *El Niño, catastrophism, and culture change in ancient America*, edited by Daniel H. Sandweiss and Jeffrey Quilter, pp. 15-32. Dumbarton Oaks Pre-Columbian Symposium Volume: Washington, DC.

McKinley, William

1873 Mounds in Georgia. Annual Report of the Board of Regents of the Smithsonian Institution (for the Year 1872) 22: 422–428.

McMichael, Alan E.

1982 *A Cultural Resource Assessment of Horr's Island, Collier County, Florida.* Florida State Museum Miscellaneous Project Report Series, No. 15. Gainesville.

Miao, Xiaodong, Joseph A. Mason, William C. Johnson, and Hong Wang.

2007 High-resolution proxy record of Holocene climate from a loess section in southwestern Nebraska, USA. *Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology* 245: 368–381.

Michie, James L.

- 1974 A Second Burial from the Daw's Island Shell Midden, 38BU9, Beaufort County, South Carolina. *South Carolina Antiquities* 6(1): 37-47.
- 1976 The Daw's Island Shell Midden and Its Significance During the Formative Period. *South Carolina Antiquities* 8(1):20.
- 1978 An Intensive Archaeological Test of the Edenwood Site 38LX135, Lexington County, South Carolina. *South Carolina Antiquities* 10(2):454-495.

Milanich, Jerald T.

1985 The Early Prehistoric Southeast: A Sourcebook. Garland Publishing, Inc.: New York.

Moore, Charles B.

- 1897 Certain aboriginal mounds of the Georgia Coast. *Journal of the Academy of Natural Science of Philadelphia* 11 (1):4–138.
- Moros, Matthias, Karin G. Jensen, and Antoon Kuijpers
- 2006 Mid- to late-Holocene hydrological and climatic variability in Disko Bugt, central west Greenland. *Holocene* 16: 357–367.

Novick, Lee

- 1978 Prehistoric Lithic Material Sources and Types in South Carolina: A Preliminary Statement. *South Carolina Antiquities* 10(1): 422-437.
- Ogden, Quinn-Monique
- 2011 The Late Archaic Lithics of the St. Catherines and McQueen Shell Rings on St. Catherines Island, Georgia. Unpublished Master's Thesis, Hunter College, City University of New York.

Oikawa, Akifumi and Shūzō Koyama

1981 A Jomon shellmound database. In *Affluent Foragers: Pacific Coasts East and West*, edited by Shūzō Koyama and David Hurst Thomas, pp. 187-199. Senri Ethnological Studies, 9. National Museum of Ethnology, Osaka.

Oliver, Billy L.

1985 Tradition and Typology: Basic Elements of the Carolina Projectile Point Sequence. In Structure and Process in Southeastern Archaeology, edited by James B. Griffin, pp. 195-211. University of Alabama Press, Tuscaloosa. **Open Source Initiative**

2007 The Open Source Definition. https://opensource.org/definition. Accessed November 2, 2015.

Palmiotto, Andrea

2011 A Zooarchaeological Synthesis of South Carolina's Prehistoric Coastal Sites. Southeastern Archaeology 30(1): 166-175.

Parsons, Alexandra L. and Rochelle A. Marrinan

2013 An assessment of coastal faunal data from Georgia and northeast Florida. In *Life Among the Tides: Recent Archaeology in the Georgia Bight*, edited by David Hurst Thomas and Victor Thompson, pp. 47-74. American Museum of Natural History Anthropological Papers Number 98, New York.

Purdy, Barbara A.

- 1981 Florida's Prehistoric Stone Technology: A Study of Flintworking Technique of Early Florida Stone Implement Makers. University Presses of Florida: Gainesville.
- QGIS Development Team
- 2015 QGIS Geographic Information System. Open Source Geospatial Foundation. URL http://qgis.osgeo.org
- R Core Team
- 2013 R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. ISBN 3-900051-07-0, URL http://www.R-project.org/.

Randall, Asa R.

2011 Remapping Archaic Social Histories along the St. Johns River in Florida. In *Hunter-Gatherer Archaeology as Historical Process*, edited by Kenneth E. Sassaman and Donald H. Holly Jr., pp. 120-142. The University of Arizona Press: Tuscon.

Raz, Guy

- 2015 Open Source World. Audio blog post. TED Radio Hour. NPR, 23. http://www.npr.org/programs/ted-radio-hour/449179937/open-source-world. Accessed October 24, 2015
- Reitz, Elizabeth J., David Linsley, Gale A. Bishop, Harold B. Rollins, and David Hurst Thomas
- 2008 A Brief Natural History of St. Catherines Island. In *Native American Landscapes of St. Catherines Island, Georgia,* edited by David Hurst Thomas, pp. 48-61. American Museum of Natural History, Anthropological Papers, Number 88. New York.

- Rich, Frederick, Anthony Vega, and Frank J. Vento
- 2011 Evolution of late Pleistocene-Holocene climates and environments of St. Catherines Island and the Georgia Bight. In *Geoarchaeology of St. Catherines Island, Georgia,* edited by Gale A. Bishop, Harold B. Rollins, and David Hurst Thomas, pp. 67-78. American Museum of Natural History Anthropological Papers Number 94, New York.

Ritter, Woldemar H.

1933 Shell Mound on Land Owned by Chester Fields, Burton, Port Royal Island, Beaufort County, South Carolina. Plan of Mound and Location of Test Pits. Map and associated field notes on file at the Charleston Museum, South Carolina.

Russo, Michael

- 1991 *Archaic Sedentism on the Florida Coast: A Case Study from Horr's Island.* Ph.D. dissertation, Department of Anthropology, University of Florida, Gainesville.
- 1994 Why We Don't Believe in Archaic Ceremonial Mounds and Why We Should: The Case From Florida. *Southeastern Archaeology* 13:93-109.
- 1996 Southeastern Mid-Holocene Coastal Settlements. In *Archaeology of the Mid-Holocene Southeast*, edited by Kenneth E. Sassaman and David G. Anderson, pp. 177–199. University Presses of Florida, Gainesville.
- 2002 Architectural Features at Fig Island. In *The Fig Island Ring Complex (38CH42): Coastal Adaptation and the Question of Ring Function in the Late Archaic,* edited by Rebecca Saunders and Michael Russo, pp. 141-153. Grant 45-01-16441, South Carolina Department of Archives and History, Columbia.
- 2004 Measuring Shell Rings for Social Inequality. In *Signs of Power: The Rise of Cultural Complexity in the Southeast*, edited by Jon L. Gibson and Philip J. Carr, pp. 26-70. University of Alabama Press: Tuscaloosa.
- 2006 *Archaic Shell Rings of the Southeast U.S.* Theme study, National Register of Historic Places, Southeastern Archaeological Center, Tallahassee.
- 2010 Shell rings and other settlement features as indictors of cultural continuity between the Late Archaic and Woodland periods of coastal Florida. In *Trend, Tradition, and Turmoil: What Happened to the Southeastern Archaic?*, edited by David Hurst Thomas and Matthew C. Sanger, pp. 149-172. American Museum of Natural History Anthropological Papers Number 93, New York.
- 2013 The Contextual Shell Midden. Paper presented at the 70th Annual Meeting of the Southeastern Archaeological Conference, November 6-10, Tampa, FL.
- Russo, Michael and Gregory Heide
- 2001 Shell Rings of the Southeast US. *Antiquity* 75(289):491-492.

2003 *Mapping the Sewee Shell Ring*. Report submitted to the Francis Marion and Sumter National Forests, South Carolina. Copy on file, Southeast Archeological Center, National Park Service, Tallahassee.

Russo, Michael and Irvy Quitmyer

2008 Developing models of settlement for the Florida Gulf coast. In *Case Studies on Environmental Archaeology*, edited by Elizabeth J. Reitz, pp. 235-254. Springer, New York.

RStudio Team

2015 RStudio: Integrated Development for R. RStudio, Inc., Boston, MA URL http://www.rstudio.com/.

Sassaman, Kenneth E.

- 1993 *Early Pottery in the Southeast: Tradition and Innovation in Cooking Technology.* The University of Alabama Press: Tuscaloosa.
- 1995 The Cultural Diversity of Interactions among Mid-Holocene Societies of the American Southeast. In *Native American Interactions: Multiscalar Analyses and Interpretations in the Eastern Woodlands*, Michael S. Nassaney and Kenneth E. Sassaman (editors), pp. 174-204. University of Tennessee Press, Knoxville.
- 1998 Distribution, Timing, and Technology of Early Pottery in the Southeastern United States. *Revista de Arqueolgia Americana* no. 14, La Ceramica Mas Antigua de Norte y Mesoamerica: 101-103, 105-133.
- 2002 Woodland Ceramic Beginnings. In *The Woodland Southeast*, edited by David G. Anderson and Robert C. Mainfort, Jr., pp. 398-420. University of Alabama Press, Tuscaloosa.
- 2004 Common Origins and Divergent Histories in the Early Pottery Traditions of the American Southeast. In *Early Pottery: Technology, Function, Style, and Interaction in the Lower Southeast*, Rebecca Saunders and Christopher T. Hays (editors), pp. 23-39. University of Alabama Press, Tuscaloosa.
- 2010 The Eastern Archaic Historicized. Altamira Press, New York.

Sassaman, Kenneth E. and Wictoria Rudolphi

2001 Communities of Practice in the Early Pottery Traditions of the American Southeast. *Journal of Anthropological Research* 57:407-425.

Sassaman, Kenneth E., Meggan E. Blessing, and Asa R. Randall

2006 Stallings Island Revisited: New Evidence for Occupational History, Community Pattern, and Subsistence Technology. *American Antiquity* 71:539-565.

Sassaman, Kenneth E. and Asa R. Randall

2012 Shell Mounds of the Middle St. Johns Basin, Northeast Florida. In *Early New World Monumentality*, Richard L. Burger and Robert M. Rosenwig (editors). University Press of Florida, Gainesville: pp. 53-77.

Sanger, Matthew C.

- 2010 Leaving the Rings: Shell Ring Abandonment and the End of the Late Archaic. In *Trend, Tradition, and Turmoil: What Happened to the Southeastern Archaic?* David Hurst Thomas and Matthew C. Sanger (editors), pp. 201-216. American Museum of Natural History Anthropological Papers Number 93, New York.
- 2015 Investment of Meaning in Place the ritual and social lives of Late Archaic Coastal Peoples of the American Southeast. Ph.D. Dissertation, Department of Anthropology, Columbia University, New York.
- Sanger, Matthew C. and David H. Thomas
- 2010 The Two Rings of St. Catherines Island: Some Preliminary Results from the St. Catherines and McQueen Shell Rings. In *Trend, Tradition, and Turmoil: What Happened to the Southeastern Archaic?*, edited by David Hurst Thomas and Matthew C. Sanger, pp. 45-70. American Museum of Natural History Anthropological Papers Number 93, New York.

Saunders, Rebecca (editor)

- 2002 *The Fig Island Ring Complex (38CH42): Coastal Adaptation and the Question of Ring Function in the Late Archaic.* South Carolina Department of Archives and History Report.
- 2004 The Stratigraphic Sequence at Rollins Shell Ring: Implications for Ring Function. *Florida Anthropologist* 57(4):249–268.
- Saunders, Rebecca and Christopher T. Hays
- 2004 Introduction: Themes in Early Pottery Research. In *Early Pottery: Technology, Function, Style, and Interaction in the Lower Southeast*, Rebecca Saunders and Christopher T. Hays (editors), pp.1-22. University of Alabama Press, Tuscaloosa.
- Saunders, Rebecca, Michael Russo, and Virginia Horak
- 2006 Daws Island Project-2006. Poster presented at the annual meeting of the Archaeological Society of South Carolina, Columbia.

Schwadron, Margo

2010 Prehistoric landscapes of complexity: Archaic and Woodland Period shell works, shell rings, and tree islands of the Everglades, South Florida. In *Trend, Tradition, and Turmoil: What Happened to the Southeastern Archaic?*, edited by David Hurst Thomas and

Matthew C. Sanger, pp. 113-146. American Museum of Natural History Anthropological Papers Number 93, New York.

Steponaitis, Vincas P.

1986 Prehistoric Archaeology in the Southeastern United States, 1970-1985. *Annual Review of Anthropology* 15:363-404.

Sutherland, Donald

1974 Excavations at the Spanish Mount Shell Midden, Edisto Island, South Carolina. *South Carolina Antiquities* 6(1): 25-36.

Steffensen, Jørgen P., Katrine K. Andersen, Matthias Bigler, Henrik B. Clausen, Dorthe Dahl-Jensen, Hubertus Fischer, Kumiko Goto-Azuma, Margareta Hansson, Sigfús J. Johnsen, Jean Jouzel, Valérie Masson-Delmotte, Trevor Popp, Sune O. Rasmussen, Regine Röthlisberger, Urs Ruth, Bernhard Stauffer, Marie-Louise Siggaard-Andersen, Árný E. Sveinbjörnsdóttir, Anders Svensson, and James W. C. White

- 2008 High-Resolution Greenland Ice Core Data Show Abrupt Climate Change Happens in Few Years. *Science Vol. 321, Issue 5889, pp. 680-684*
- Thomas, David H. (editor)
- 2008 *Native American Landscapes of St. Catherines Island, Georgia.* American Museum of Natural History, Anthropological Papers, Number 88. New York.
- 2014 The Shellfishers of St. Catherines Island: Hardscrabble Foragers and Farming Beachcombers? *Journal of Island and Coastal Archaeology* 9(2):169-182.

Thompson, Victor D.

- 2007 Articulating Activity Areas and Formation Processes at the Sapelo Island Shell Ring Complex. *Southeastern Archaeology* 26(1):91-107.
- 2013 Whispers on the Landscape. In *The Archaeology and Historical Ecology of Small Scale Economies*, edited by Victor D. Thompson and James C. Waggoner, Jr., pp. 1-13. University Press of Florida, Gainesville.

Thompson, Victor D. and Fred T. Andrus

2011 Evaluating Mobility, Monumentality, and Feasting at the Sapelo Shell Ring Complex. *American Antiquity* 76(2):315-344

Thompson, Victor D., Wesley D. Stoner, and Harold D. Rowe

2008 Early Hunter-Gatherer Pottery along the Atlantic Coast of the Southeastern United States: A Ceramic Compositional Study. *Journal of Island and Coastal Archaeology* 3(2):191-213. Thompson, Victor D. and John Turck

2009 Adaptive Cycles of Coastal Hunter-Gatherers. American Antiquity 74(2):255-278.

Tippett, Joseph L.

1992 *The Spatial Distribution of Lithic Materials: Implications for Early and Middle Archaic Hunter-Gatherer Mobility in South Carolina*. A Thesis Presented for the Master of Arts Degree: The University of Tennessee, Knoxville.

Törnqvist, Torbjörn E., Juan L. González, Lee A. Newsom, Klaas van der Borg, Arie F.M. de Jong, and Charles W. Kurnik

2004 Deciphering Holocene sea-level history on the U.S. Gulf coast: a high-resolution record from the Mississippi delta. *Bulletin of the Geological Society of America* 116: 1026–1039.

Trinkley, Michael

- 1974a A Report on the Excavations at Marett Mound, Edisto Island, South Carolina. *South Carolina Antiquities* 6(1):1-24.
- 1974b Excavations at Thom's Creek (38LX2), South Carolina. *South Carolina Antiquities* 6(2): 10-23.
- 1975 Preliminary Report of Archaeological Excavations at Lighthouse Point Shell Ring, South Carolina. *Southern Indian Studies* 27:1-36.
- 1976a Food Procurement During the Thom's Creek Phase. *South Carolina Antiquities* 8(1):16-18.
- 1976b Evidence of a Water Source for Marett Mound (38CH110), Edisto Island, S.C. South Carolina Antiquities 8(2):15-18.
- 1980a Investigation of the Woodland Period Along the South Carolina Coast. Ph.D. dissertation, Department of Anthropology, University of North Carolina, Chapel Hill.
- 1980b Speculations on the Early Woodland Thom's Creek Phase settlem1ent Pattern Along the South Carolina Coast. *Southeastern Archaeological Conference, Bulletin* 23:23-25.
- 1983 Report on the Excavation of a south Carolina Shell Ring. *Southeastern Archaeological Conference Bulletin* 20:205-212.
- 1985 The Form and Function of South Carolina's Early Woodland Shell Rings. In *Structure and Process in Southeastern Archaeology*, James B. Griffen (editor). University of Alabama Press: Tuscaloosa.
- Viau, A.E., K Gajewski, M C. Sawada, and P Fines
- 2006 Millennial-scale Temperature Variations in North America During the Holocene. *Journal* of Geophysical Research 111(D9):1-12.

Waggoner, James C. Jr.

2009 Fiber-Tempered Pottery, Soapstone Vessels, and Shifting Alliances in the Interior Coastal Plain of the Late Archaic Southeast. *Southeastern Archaeology* 28(2): 137-147.

Walker, Martin P.

2016 Late Archaic Shell Ring Repository. http://www.martinpwalker.com/#!lasrr/cvqv

Waring, Antonio J., Jr., and Lewis H. Larson

- 1968 The Shell Ring on Sapelo Island. In *The Waring Papers: The Collected Works of Antonio J. Waring, Jr.*, edited by Stephen Williams, pp. 263–278. Papers of the Peabody Museum of Archaeology and Ethnology 58, Harvard University, Cambridge.
- Webb Thompson, Katherine A. Anderson, Patrick J. Bartlein, and Robert S. Webb
- 1998 Late Quaternary climate change in eastern North America: a comparison of pollenderived estimates with climate model results. *Quaternary Science Reviews* 17:587–606
- Wells, Joshua J., Eric C. Kansa, Sarah Whitcher Kansa, Stephen J. Yerka, David G. Anderson, Kelsey Noack Myers, R. Carl DeMuth, and Thaddeus G. Bissett.
- 2014 Web-Based Discovery and Integration of Archaeological Historic Properties Inventory Data: The Digital Index of North American Archaeology (DINAA). *Literary and Linguistic Computing* 29(3).

Williams, Stephen (editor)

1968 *The Waring Papers: The Collected Works of Antonio J. Waring, Jr.* The Peabody Museum Harvard University: Cambridge.

Appendix

Appendix A: National Register of Historic Places and National Historic Landmarks Status adapted from Russo 2006:113-114.

Site Name	Site ID	NRHP Status	Date Listed	Potential NHL?	Comments
A. Busch Krick	9MC87	not eva	luated	No	Too eroded for NHL
Auld	38CH41	Listed	1970		More study needed
Barbour Island	9MC320	not eva	luated		More study needed
Barrows	38BU300	not eva	luated	Yes	Well preserved and protected
Bonita Bay	8LL717	Eligible			developed, but largely intact
Bony Hammock	9GN53	not eva	luated		More study needed
Buzzards Island	38CH23	Listed	1970		More study needed
Cane Patch	9CH35	not eva	luated		More study needed
Cannon's Point	9GN57	Eligible		Yes	Well preserved (1975)
Cedarland	22HC30	Not El	igible	No	Destroyed
Chester Field	38BU29	Listed	1970	No	Erosion and development
Claiborne	22HC35	Not El	igible	No	Destroyed
Coosaw 1	38BU1866	Eligible		Yes	Eroded, but largely intact
Coosaw 2	38BU1866	Eligible		Yes	Well preserved and protected
Coosaw 3	38BU1866	Eligible		Yes	Mined, subsurface intact
Coosaw 4	38BU1866	not eva	luated	Yes	More study needed
Crow Island	38CH60	not eva	luated		More study needed
Fig Island 1	38CH42	Listed	1970	Yes	Well preserved and protected
Fig Island 2	38CH42	Listed	1970	Yes	Well preserved and protected
Fig Island 3	38Ch42	Listed	1970	Yes	Well preserved and protected
Guana	8SJ2554	Eligible		Yes	Well preserved and protected
Guerard Point	38BU21	not eva	luated	No	Mined, subsurface intact
Hanckel	38CH7	Listed	1970		More study needed
Hill Cottage	8SO2	Listed	1975	Yes	developed, but largely intact
Hobcaw	38CHXX	not eva	luated		Vague mention of possible ring
Horr's Island	8CR209	Not El	igible	No	Mostly destroyed
Horse Island	38CH14	Listed	1970		More study needed
Joseph Reed	8MT13	Eligible		Yes	Eroded, but largely intact
Lighthouse Point	38CH12	Listed	1990	No	Architectural integrity lacking
McQueen	9Li1648				
Meig's Pasture	80K102	unknown		No	Destroyed?
Odingsell	9CH111	not eva	luated	No	More study needed
Ossabaw 77	9CH203	not eva	luated		More study needed
Oxeye	8DU7478	Eligible		Yes	Well preserved, but drowned
Patent Point	38BU301	not eva	luated	Yes	Well preserved and protected
Rollins	8DU7510	Eligible		Yes	Well preserved and protected

Table A.1: NRHP and NHL statuses of Late Archaic Shell Rings

T

Site Name	Site ID	NRHP Status	Date Listed	Potential NHL?	Comments
Sapelo 1	9MC23	Eligible		Yes	Well preserved and protected
Sapelo 2	9MC23	not eva	luated	Yes	Mined, subsurface intact
Sapelo 3	9MC23	not eva	luated	Yes	Mined, subsurface intact
Sea Pines	38BU7	Listed	1970	Yes	Well preserved and protected
Sewee Shell					
Ring	38Ch45	Listed	1970	Yes	Mined, but largely intact
Skidaway	9CH77	not eva	luated		More study needed
Skidaway 21	9CH75	not eva	luated		More study needed
Skidaway 9,					
Large	9CH63	not eva	luated		More study needed
Skidaway 9,					
Small	9CH63	not eva	luated		More study needed
Skull Creek	200110	Listad	1070	Vac	Minad more study needed
Skull Creek	30000	Listeu	1970	1 68	Willed, more study needed
Small	38BU8	Listed	1970	Yes	Mined, more study needed
St. Catherines	9LI231				,
~	0 1				Mined/Current condition
Stratton Place	38CH24	Eligible			unknown
West Ring	9GN76	Eligible		Yes	Well preserved (1975)

.

Table A.1: Continued

Appendix B: Radiocarbon Dates from Late Archaic Shell Rings.

The following table for Appendix B includes all of the currently published radiocarbon dates that have been collected from the shell rings of the Late Archaic period. The data below is listed alphabetically by site name. Each row of data represents the information for each radiocarbon sample and can be identified by the unique radiometric sample number. The information listed for each sample include: the measured date for each sample, the fractionation measure, the published calibrated date, the material that was dated, the provenience of the material, and the references for each sample.

This database will be continuously open for updates and will accept any submissions of data for review. After review, if the submission is complete the data will be added to the database and publish online. In order for new data to be published within this dataset please email mwalke63@vols.utk.edu or visit the website: http://www.martinpwalker.com/#!lasrr/cvqv and the following information must be provided, and will be reviewed prior to addition:

- Site Name and Site ID
- Laboratory radiometric sample number
- Measured radiometric date
- Fractionation measures (if zero, then list "0")
- Material type of sample that was dated
- Provenience of the sample that was dated
- Reference for the material (this can include laboratory reports)

Calibrated dates are not required for the submission but will be listed if given. Calibration will be provided upon request.

Claiborne	Claiborne	Cedarland	Cannon's Point	Cannon's Point	Bonita Bay	Bonita Bay	Bonita Bay	Bonita Bay	Barrows	Auld	A. Busch Krick	A. Busch Krick	Site Name
22HC35	22HC35	22HC30	9GN57	9GN57	8LL717	8LL717	8LL717	8LL717	38BU300	38CH41	9MC87	9MC87	Site ID
UGA-1693	1-3705	G-561	UM-520	UM-521	Beta-48534	Beta-48533	Beta-90530	Beta-90529	Beta- 213398	M-1209	UGA-227	UGA-226	Sample Number
3385±140	3100±110	3200±130	4190±90	3575±90	3770±70	3850±70	3460±70	3710±70	3200±60/70	3770±130	3470±85	3215±80	Measured Date (BP)
-25	-25	-25	0	0	0	0	0	0	-3.7	0	0	0	C12- C13
3385±140	3100±110	3200±130	4600±90	4085±90	4180±70	4260±70	3870±70	4120±70	3890±60/70	4180±130	38±088£	3625±80	Calibrated Date (BP)
charcoal	charcoal	charcoal	oyster	oyster	marine shell	marine shell	marine shell	marine shell	oyster	oyster	charcoal	conch	Material
few cm to more than 50 cm deep	Base of midden	Top of midden	Marsh shell ring, base of midden deposits 1.47 mbsm	Marsh shell ring, sq. 18N, 3E, 13 cmbs, level 3, last occupation	FS 18, 100-110 cmbs	FS 17, 0-10 cmbs	Unit 546-547, E550, 100-110 cmbs	Unit 546-547, E550, 10-20 cmbs	NW baulk, base of shell, below water table, 100-105 cmbs	Upper level	4.6 ft	5.7-6.0 ft	Provenience
Bruseth 1991:15, 18; Russo 2006:16	Gagliano and Webb 1970:69; Russo 2006:16	Gagliano and Webb 1970:69; Russo 2006:16	Marrinan 1975:48-49; Russo 2006:12	Marrinan 1975:49; Russo 2006:12	Dickle 1992:161; Russo 2006:15	Dickle 1992:161; Russo 2006:15	Houck 1996:31; Russo 2006:15	Houck 1996:31; Russo 2006:15	Beta-Analytic 2006a; Russo 2006:11	Russo 2006:11; Williams 1977:330-331	Brandau and Noakes 1972:494-495; Russo 2006:13	Brandau and Noakes 1972:494-495; Russo 2006:13	References

Table B.1: Radiocarbon Dates from Late Archaic Shell Rings

Saunders 2000 Heide 200	ST 4, Feature 4b	oyster	4112±50	-0.9	3714±50	WK-9762	38CH42	Fig Island 2
ft	Trench E, 0.5-1.0	charcoal	1635±160	-25	1635±160	GX-2276	38CH42	Fig Island 2
	TU1, top	oyster	3953±47	-0.5	3550±47	WK-10105	38CH42	Fig Island 1
	TU2, top	oyster	3816±54	-0.9	3420±54	WK-10103	38CH42	Fig Island 1
	TU2, 90cmbs	osyter	3861±46	-1.1	3467±46	WK-9746	38CH42	Fig Island 1
cmb	EU3 base, 25-30 o	oyster	3810±70	-2.5	3440±70	GX-29194	38BU1866	Coosaw 3
þ	EU2 90-100 cmbc	quahog	3800±30	0	NA	CAMS- 87990	38BU1866	Coosaw 2
mbs	EU2 top, 25-30 ci	oyster	3610±70	-1.8	3230±70	GX-29527	38BU1866	Coosaw 2
20 c	EU2 base, 110-12	oyster	3560±70	-2.1	3190±70	GX-29193	38BU1866	Coosaw 2
mb	EUI base, 90-95 c	oyster	3790±70	-2	3420±70	GX-29192	38BU1866	Coosaw 1
	NA	NA	NA	NA	3990±80	TX-1403	22HC35	Claiborne
	NA	NA	NA	NA	3470±160	TX-1404	22HC35	Claiborne
	Provenience	Material	Calibrated Date (BP)	C12- C13	Measured Date (BP)	Sample Number	Site ID	Site Name

Table B.1: Continued

Site Name	Site ID	Sample Number	Measured Date (BP)	C12- C13	Calibrated Date (BP)	Material	Provenience	References
Fig Island 2	38CH42	WK-10102	3602±55	-0.3	4009±55	oyster	ST 4, 30 cmbs	Saunders 2002:114; Russo and Heide 2003:15; Russo 2006:12
Fig Island 3	38Ch42	WK-9763	3627±50	-0.6	4030±50	oyster	TU5, Posthole test	Saunders 2002:114; Russo and Heide 2003:15; Russo 2006:12
Fig Island 3	38Ch42	WK-9747	3594±49	-0.8	3993±49	oyster	TU2, Feature 1 base	Saunders 2002:114; Russo and Heide 2003:15; Russo 2006:12
Fig Island 3	38Ch42	WK-10104	3667±48	-0.4	4074±48	oyster	TU1, 23-30 cmbs	Saunders 2002:114; Russo and Heide 2003:15; Russo 2006:12
Guana	8SJ2554	GX-31906	2362±70	-2	2740±70	oyster	Feature 1, top	Russo 2006:16; Saunders and Rolland 2006:7
Guana	8SJ2554	GX-31908	2497±70	-1.5	2880±70	oyster	Feature 1, center	Russo 2006:16; Saunders and Rolland 2006:7
Guana	8SJ2554	GX-31909	3220±70	-0.8	3620±70	clam	Feature 5, center	Russo 2006:16; Saunders and Rolland 2006:7
Guana	8SJ2554	GX-31907	3355±70	-1.5	3740±70	oyster	Feature 2/4, top	Russo 2006:16; Saunders and Rolland 2006:7
Guana	8SJ2554	Beta-166869	3310±60	-0.5	3720±60	clam	340N, 440E	Russo 2006:16; Saunders and Rolland 2006:7
Guana	8SJ2554	Beta-154816	3450±60	-0.2	3860±60	oyster	340N, 540E	Saunders and Rolland 2006:7; Russo et al. 2002:29; Russo 2006:16
Guana	8SJ2554	GX-29517	3430±70	-1.3	3820±70	oyster	469N, 453E	Russo 2006:16; Saunders and Rolland 2006:7
Guana	8SJ2554	Beta-154817	3210±50	-1.2	3600±50	oyster	469N, 453E	Saunders and Rolland 2006:7; Russo et al. 2002:29; Russo 2006:16

Table B.1: Continued

Russo 1991:423-424; McMichael 1982:54; Russo 1996; 182-183; Russo 2006:14	Test 9, Stratum-A	whelk	4520±85	0	4120±85	UM-1928	8CR209	Horr's Island
Russo 1991:423-424; McMichael 1982:54; Russo 1996; 182-183; Russo 2006:14	Test 9, Stratum-B	oyster	4425±85	0	3895±85	UM-1927	8CR209	Horr's Island
Russo 1991:423-424; McMichael 1982:54; Russo 1996; 182-183; Russo 2006:14	Test 9, Stratum-H	oyster	4295±75	0	3895±75	UM-1926	8CR209	Horr's Island
Bullen 1976:13; Russo 1996:182-183; Russo 2006:16	Test A, 11 feet deep	busycon	4500±125	NA	4100±125	G-600	8SO2	Hill Cottage
Bullen 1976:13; Russo 1996:182-183; Russo 2006:16	Test A, 8 feet deep	busycon	4450±125	NA	4050±125	G-599	8SO2	Hill Cottage
Bullen 1976:13; Russo 2006:16	Test A, 4 feet deep	busycon	3975±120	NA	3575±120	G-598	8SO2	Hill Cottage
Bullen 1976:13; Russo 2006:16	Test A, 2-2.5 feet deep	venus	3625±120	NA	3225±120	G-597	8SO2	Hill Cottage
Bullen 1976:13; Russo 2006:16	Test A, 1 foot deep	busycon	4040±120	NA	3350±120	G-596	8SO2	Hill Cottage
Saunders and Rolland 2006:7; Russo et al. 2002:29; Russo 2006:16	410N, 520E	oyster	3590±70	0.5	3180±70	Beta-165599	8SJ2554	Guana
Saunders and Rolland 2006:7; Russo et al. 2002:29; Russo 2006:16	380N, 400E	oyster	3490±60	-2.2	3120±60	Beta-165598	8SJ2554	Guana
References	Provenience	Material	Calibrated Date (BP)	C12- C13	Measured Date (BP)	Sample Number	Site ID	Site Name

Table B.1: Continued
Russo 1991:423-424; McMichael 1982:55; Russo 1996; 182-183; Russo 2006:14	Test 11, Stratum-B	oyster	4660±90	0	4260±90	Beta-1277	8CR209	Horr's Island
Russo 1991:423-424; McMichael 1982:55; Russo 1996; 182-183; Russo 2006:14	Test 11, Stratum-D	oyster	4470±80	0	4070±80	Beta-1276	8CR209	Horr's Island
Russo 1991:423-424; McMichael 1982:55; Russo 1996; 182-183; Russo 2006:14	Test 6, Stratum-D	oyster	4285±100	0	3885±100	Beta-1275	8CR209	Horr's Island
Russo 1991:423-424; McMichael 1982:55; Russo 1996; 182-183; Russo 2006:14	Test 7, Stratum-D	oyster	4500±110	0	4100±110	Beta-1274	8CR209	Horr's Island
Russo 1991:423-424; McMichael 1982:55; Russo 1996; 182-183; Russo 2006:14	Test 7, Stratum-B	oyster	4015±75	0	3615±75	Beta-1273	8CR209	Horr's Island
Russo 1991:423-424; Russo 2006:14	Test 8, FS 188	oyster	2720±70	0	2310±70	Beta-37724	8CR209	Horr's Island
Russo 1991:423-424; McMichael 1982:54; Russo 1996; 182-183; Russo 2006:14	Test 9, Stratum-J	whelk	4290±80	0	3890±80	UM-1931	8CR209	Horr's Island
Russo 1991:423-424; McMichael 1982:54; Russo 1996; 182-183; Russo 2006:14	Test 9, Stratum-C	oyster	4375±85	0	3975±85	UM-1930	8CR209	Horr's Island
Russo 1991:423-424; McMichael 1982:54; Russo 1996; 182-183; Russo 2006:14	Test 9, Stratum-D	quahog	4480±80	0	4080±80	UM-1929	8CR209	Horr's Island
References	Provenience	Material	Calibrated Date (BP)	C12- C13	Measured Date (BP)	Sample Number	Site ID	Site Name

McQueen	Lighthouse Point	Lighthouse Point	Lighthouse Point	Lighthouse Point	Lighthouse Point	Joseph Reed	Joseph Reed	Joseph Reed	Joseph Reed	Joseph Reed	Joseph Reed	Horr's Island	Site Name
9LI1648	38CH12	38CH12	38CH12	38CH12	38CH12	8MT13	8MT13	8MT13	8MT13	8MT13	8MT13	8CR209	Site ID
Beta- 238324	UGA-2905	UGA-2904	UGA-2903	UGA-2902	UGA-2901	GX-26119	GX-26118	GX-25976	GX-25977	WK-7436	WK-7435	Beta-1278	Sample Number
3710±50	3345±70	2885±175	3180±65	3275±55	3190±70	2880±80	2860±130	3055±80	3015±75	2930±60	2870±60	3790±85	Measured Date (BP)
-0.9	-25	-25	-25	-25	-25	-0.7	-26.6	-0.6	0.3	0	0	0	C12- C13
4100±60	3345±70	2885±175	3180±65	3275±55	3190±70	3280±80	2850±130	3455±80	3425±75	3340±60	3280±60	4190±85	Calibrated Date (BP)
shell	charcoal	charcoal	charcoal	charcoal	charcoal	oyster	charcoal	oyster	oyster	oyster	oyster	oyster	Material
ТР II Тор	Feature 37, north half, ash zone, base of level 2	Feature 33, north half, based of level 2	Feature 33, south half, base of level 2	230R70, Level 2	230R60, Level 2	EU 4, 0-20 cmbd	EU 1, Feature 2, 122 cmbd	EU 1, 180-190 cmbd	EU 2, 48 cmbd	EU 2, 155 cmbd	EU 1, Feature 3	Test 11, Stratum-A	Provenience
Sanger and Thomas 2010:63	Russo 2006:11; Trinkley 1980: 209-210(191-192)	Russo 2006:11; Trinkley 1980: 209-210(191-192)	Russo 2006:11; Trinkley 1980: 209-210(191-192)	Russo 2006:11; Trinkley 1980: 209-210(191-192)	Russo 2006:11; Trinkley 1980: 209-210(191-192)	Alexander Cherkinsky, Geochron Lab, to M. Russo 2002; Russo 2006:15	Russo and Heide 2000:47; Russo 2006:15	Russo 1991:423-431; Russo 2006:14	References				

Site Name	Site ID	Sample Number	Measured Date (BP)	C12- C13	Calibrate d Date (BP)	Material	Provenience	References
McQueen	9LI1648	Beta- 238325	3420±50	-3.2	3780±50	shell	TP II Bottom	Sanger and Thomas 2010:63
McQueen	9LI1648	Beta- 238326	3600±50	-1.3	3990±50	shell	TP II Middle	Sanger and Thomas 2010:63
McQueen	9LI1648	Beta- 244618	940±40	-25.1	940±40	charred material	N229 E185 4.4-4.3m	Sanger and Thomas 2010:63
McQueen	9LI1648	Beta- 244619	1470±40	-0.8	1870±40	shell	Feature 4	Thomas and Sanger 2010:63
McQueen	9LI1648	Beta- 244620	3800±40	-25.3	3800±40	charred material	Feature 21 4.0-3.9m	Sanger and Thomas 2010:63
McQueen	9LI1648	Beta- 244745	6050±40	-24.4	6060±40	charred material	Feature 19 N 4.0-3.0m	Sanger and Thomas 2010:63
McQueen	9LI1648	Beta- 251761	3700±40	-23.9	3720±40	charred material	N243 E233 4.5-4.4m	Sanger and Thomas 2010:63
McQueen	9LI1648	Beta- 251762	3420±50	-0.8	3820±50	shell	N243 E233 4.5-4.4m	Sanger and Thomas 2010:63
McQueen	9LI1648	Beta- 251764	3710±40	-25	3710±40	charred material	N272 E200 5.3-5.2m	Sanger and Thomas 2010:63
McQueen	9LI1648	Beta- 251765	3590±50	-1	3990±50	shell	N272 E200 5.1-5.0m	Sanger and Thomas 2010:63
McQueen	9LI1648	Beta- 251766	3840±40	-27.5	3800±40	charred material	N272 E200 5.1-5.0m	Sanger and Thomas 2010:63
McQueen	9LI1648	Beta- 251767	3680±40	-24.8	3680±40	charred material	N243 E233 4.4-4.3m SHELL	Sanger and Thomas 2010:63
McQueen	9LI1648	Beta- 251768	3540±40	-2.4	3910±40	shell	N243 E233 4.4-4.3m SHELL	Sanger and Thomas 2010:63

)xeye 8DU7478)xeve 8DU7478)xeye 8DU7478	Aeig's Pasture 80K102	Aeig's Pasture 80K102	Aeig's Pasture 80K102	Aeig's Pasture 80K102	Aeig's Pasture 80K102	Aeig's Pasture 80K102	AcQueen 9L11648	ite Name Site ID
Beta-47531	Beta- 119815	WK-7437	Beta- 119814	Dicarb	Dicarb-3295 B	Dicarb-3295 A	Beta-21255	Beta-21254	Beta-21253	Beta- 251769	Sample Number
3990 ± 70	4230±70	3990±60	4500±80	NA	3280±50	3220±50	3630±90	3670±80	3700±80	3490±40	Measured Date (BP)
-1.9	-4.1	0	-1.8	NA	0	0	-0.8	-0.8	-0.8	-4.2	C12- C13
4370±70	4570±70	4400±60	4580±80	3036±60	3690±50	3630±50	4030±90	4070±80	4100±80	3830±40	Calibrated Date (BP)
oyster	oyster	estuarine shell	oyster	shell	marine shell	marine shell	conch	conch	conch	shell	Material
TP3, 60-80 cmbs	Trench 1, Unit 5, bottom of shell	EU5m 10-15 cmbs	ST 1262, 2mbs	Not Reported	Zone 4	Zone 2	Trench 3, Feature 17	Trench 3, Feature 17	Trench 2, Feature 3	N243 E233 4.3-4.2m	Provenience
Russo 1992:110; Russo	Russi and Heide 2000:57; Russo 2006:14	Russi and Heide 2000:57; Russo 2006:14	Russi and Heide 2000:57; Russo 2006:14	Thomas and Campbell 1993; Technical Synthesis and App:506; Russo 2006:15	Thomas and Campbell 1993; Technical Synthesis and App:506; Russo 2006:15	Thomas and Campbell 1993; Technical Synthesis and App:506; Russo 2006:15	Curren 1987:71; Russo 2006:15	Curren 1987:71; Russo 2006:15	Curren 1987:71; Russo 2006:15	Sanger and Thomas 2010:63	References

Alexander Cherkinsky, Geochron Lab, to R. Saunders 2006: Russo 2006:15	TU 12, base of shell	oyster	3840±70	-2	3462±70	GX-30378	8DU7510	Rollins
Geochron Lab, to R. Saunders 2006; Russo 2006:15								
Alexander Cherkinsky,	TU 10, base of shell	oyster	3930 ± 80	-2.1	3556 ± 80	GX-30737	8DU7510	Rollins
Alexander Cherkinsky, Geochron Lab, to G. Heide 2002; Russo 2006:15	TU 1097, Ringlet I, pit feature (in profile)	oyster	2460±70	-3	2100±70	GX-29516	8DU7510	Rollins
Geochron Laboratory 1999; Alexander Cherkinsky, Geochron Lab, to R. Saunders 2006; Russo 2006:15	Trench 1, Feature 11. base. 200 cmbs	bulk carbon	3730±80	-25.6	3740±80	GX-25750	8DU7510	Rollins
Russo and Heide 2000:57; Russo 2006:15	Trench 1, Unit 1, Feat 1, 35 cmbs	oyster	3600±60	0	3230±60	WK-7438	8DU7510	Rollins
Russo 1992:110; Russo and Heide 2000:57; Russo 2006:15	4850N, 250E, 60-65 cmbs	oyster	3760±60	0	3350±60	Beta-50155	8DU7510	Rollins
Russo and Heide 2000:57; Russo 2006:15	Unit 3197, 80-90 cmbs, midden	oyster	3710±70	-0.3	3300±70	Beta- 119817	8DU7510	Rollins
Russo and Heide 2000:57; Russo 2006:15	Trench 1, Unit 2, Feat 1, bottom deposit, 90-100cmbs	oyster	3670±70	-2.5	3300±70	Beta- 119816	8DU7510	Rollins
Russo and Heide 2000:57; Russo 2006:15	Unit 3197, 10-20 cmbs, midden	oyster	2690±60	0	2280±60	WK-7433	8DU7510	Rollins
Beta-Analytic 2006b; Russo 2006:11	Base of shell, NE 30-40 cmbs	oyster	3660±70/8 0	-0.2	3280±70/80	Beta- 213397	38BU301	Patent Point
Beta-Analytic 2006b; Russo 2006:11	N Wall Profile, top of shell, 10-15 cmbs	oyster	3850±70/8 0	-2.8	3490±70/80	Beta- 213396	38BU301	Patent Point
References	Provenience	Material	Calibrate d Date (BP)	C12- C13	Measured Date (BP)	Sample Number	Site ID	Site Name

Russo 2006:13; Thompson 2006:183	Unit 9, Level 4	charcoal	3560±50	-27.5	3600±50	UGA-15082	9MC23	Sapelo 3
Noakes and Brandau Russo 2006:13	2 mbs in remnant of ring next to one with UGA-73 and -74 assays	oyster	3955±65	0	3545±65	UGA-75	9MC23	Sapelo 2
Russo 2006:13; Tho 2006:183	Unit 3, Level 10, 90-100cmbs	charcoal	4060±50	-26.2	4080±50	UGA-15081	9MC23	Sapelo 1
Russo 2006:13; Tho 2006:183	Unit 1, Level 2, 10-20 cmbs	sooted sherd	3730±60	-18.9	3630±60	UGA-15085	9MC23	Sapelo 1
Russo 2006:13; Thoi 2006:183	Unit 1, Level 2, 10-20 cmbs	sooted sherd	3610±50	-17	3480±50	UGA-15084	9MC23	Sapelo 1
Noakes and Brandau Russo 2006:13	2 mbs in ring w/50 m diam., 2-3 m high	oyster	3840±70	0	3430±70	UGA-74	9MC23	Sapelo 1
Noakes and Brandau Russo 2006:13	1 mbs in ring w/50 m diam., 2-3 m high	oyster	3840±65	0	3430±65	UGA-73	9MC23	Sapelo 1
Crane 1956:665; Rus 2006:13;Williams 19	Late Archaic Lev. w/plain fiber-tempered pottery	oyster	4210±350	0	3800±350	M-39(b)	9MC23	Sapelo 1
Crane 1956:665; Rus 2006:13; Williams 1	Late Archaic Lev. w/plain fiber-tempered pottery	oyster	4010±350	0	3600±350	M-39(a)	9MC23	Sapelo 1
Russo 1996:182-183 2006:15	120 cmbs	oyster	4150±60	NA	3730±60	Beta-45925	8DU7510	Rollins
Alexander Cherkinsk Geochron Lab, to R. 2006; Russo 2006:15	TU 11, Feature 28 (below ringlet base)	oyster	3820±70	-2	3438±70	GX-30340	8DU7510	Rollins
Alexander Cherkinsk Geochron Lab, to R. 2006; Russo 2006:15	TU 11, base of shell	oyster	3630±70	-3.6	3278±70	GX-30379	8DU7510	Rollins
References	Provenience	Material	Calibrated Date (BP)	C12- C13	Measured Date (BP)	Sample Number	Site ID	Site Name

Site Name	Site ID	Sample Number	Measured Date (BP)	C12- C13	Calibrated Date (BP)	Material	Provenience	References
Sapelo 3	9MC23	UGA-15083	3740±50	-25.5	3730±50	charcoal	Unit 9, Level 7	Russo 2006:13; Thompson 2006:183
Sapelo 3	9MC23	UGA-15086	3740±50	-25.6	3730±50	charcoal	Unit 11, Level 4	Russo 2006:13; Thompson 2006:183
Sea Pines	38BU7	I-2848	3400±110	0	3810±110	clam	20-26 inches	Calmes 1968:26(163); Buckley and Willis 1969:79; Russo 2006:11
Sea Pines	38BU7	I-2847	3110±110	0	3520±110	conch	0-6 inches	Calmes 1968:26(163); Buckley and Willis 1969:79; Russo 2006:11
Sewee Shell Ring	38Ch45	GX-2279	3295±110	0	3675±110	oyster	NE quadrant, C-1, 2' bs	Trinkley 1980b:5; Russo and Heide 2003:15; Russo 2006:12
Sewee Shell Ring	38Ch45	GX-30186	3630±70	-1.8	4010±70	oyster	EU1, 33-48 cmbd	Russo and Heide 2003:14-15; Russo 2006:12
Sewee Shell Ring	38Ch45	GX-30187	3740±70	-2.3	4120±70	oyster	EU1, 150 cmbd, ring base	Russo and Heide 2003:14-15; Russo 2006:12
Skull Creek Large	38BU8	I-2849	3120±110	0	3530±110	oyster	30inches above charcoal (I- 2850) in periwinkle layer and 27 in bs	Calmes 1968:25(162); Buckley and Willis 1969:79; Russo 2006:11
Skull Creek Large	38BU8	1-2850	3585±115	-25	3585±115	charcoal	Level 9, 56-57in bs, bottom half of shell deposits	Calmes 1968:25(162); Buckley and Willis 1969:79; Russo 2006:11
Skull Creek Small	38BU8	I-3047	3890±110	-25	3890±110	charcoal	Base of midden, level 4, 18- 24in bs	Calmes 1968:26(163); Buckley and Willis 1969:79; Russo 2006:11
St. Catherines	9LI231	Beta- 215824	3770±50	-3.8	4120±60	Crassostrea	N789 E801, 83 cmbs	Thomas 2008:370; Sanger and Thomas 2010:62
St. Catherines	9LI231	Beta- 215823	3510±50	-2.5	3880±50	Crassostrea	N789 E801, 23 cmbs	Thomas 2008:370; Sanger and Thomas 2010:62

Site Name	Site ID	Sample Number	Measured Date (BP)	C12- C13	Calibrate d Date	Material	Provenience	References
St. Catherines	9LI231	Beta- 215822	3450±50	-2.6	3800±60	Crassostrea	N784 E801, 67 cmbs	Thomas 2008:370; Sanger and Thomas 2010:62
St. Catherines	9LI231	Beta- 215821	3780±50	د -	4140±50	Crassostrea	N782 E801, 66 cmbs	Thomas 2008:370; Sanger and Thomas 2010:62
St. Catherines	9LI231	Beta-21408	3470±80	-1.7	3860±80	Mercenaria	TP I (60-70)	Thomas 2008:370; Sanger and Thomas 2010:62
St. Catherines	9LI231	Beta-21409	3980±90	-1.2	4370±90	Mercenaria	TP I (10-20)	Thomas 2008:370; Sanger and Thomas 2010:62
St. Catherines	9LI231	Beta- 229422	3870±40	-3.2	4230±40	shell	922/182-66-82	Sanger and Thomas 2010:62
St. Catherines	9LI231	Beta- 229423	3630±50	-4.1	3970±50	shell	W82 S2 at 3.0m	Sanger and Thomas 2010:62
St. Catherines	9LI231	Beta- 229424	3600±50	-3.3	3960±50	shell	W82 S2 at 2.0m	Sanger and Thomas 2010:62
St. Catherines	9LI231	Beta- 229425	5490±50	-3.1	5850±50	shell	W82 S2 at 2.0m	Sanger and Thomas 2010:62
St. Catherines	9LI231	Beta- 231331	3660±40	-25.6	3650±40	bulk soil	Feature 24 level 1.8-1.7m	Sanger and Thomas 2010:62
St. Catherines	9LI231	Beta- 231332	3260±40	-25.4	3250±40	bulk soil	Feature 5 level 1.5-1.4m	Sanger and Thomas 2010:62
St. Catherines	9LI231	Beta- 231333	3580±40	-25.6	3570±40	bulk soil	Feature 36 level 1.7-1.6m	Sanger and Thomas 2010:62
St. Catherines	9LI231	Beta- 231334	3670±50	-2.2	4040±50	shell	W82 S2 base of pit feature	Sanger and Thomas 2010:62
St. Catherines	9LI231	Beta- 231335	3800±40	-2.7	4170±40	shell	W82 S2 base of pit feature	Sanger and Thomas 2010:62

Site Name	Site ID	Sample Number	Measured Date (BP)	C12- C13	Calibrate d Date (BP)	Material	Provenience	References
St. Catherines	9LI231	Beta- 231336	3270±40	-25.6	3260±40	bulk soil	Feature 23 level 1.8-1.7m	Sanger and Thomas 2010:62
St. Catherines	9LI231	Beta- 233129	3390±40	-24.6	3400±40	bulk soil	Feature 20 depth 1.9-1.13m	Sanger and Thomas 2010:62
St. Catherines	9LI231	Beta- 233130	3620±60	-0.6	4020±60	shell	Feature 23 depth 1.9-1.8m	Sanger and Thomas 2010:62
St. Catherines	9LI231	Beta- 233131	3570±40	-24.4	3580±40	bulk soil	Feature 37 depth 1.9-1.8m	Sanger and Thomas 2010:62
St. Catherines	9LI231	Beta- 233132	3640±40	-24.7	3640±40	bulk soil	Feature 17 depth 1.9-1.8m	Sanger and Thomas 2010:62
St. Catherines	9LI231	Beta- 233133	3230±40	-24.1	3240±40	bulk soil	Feature 9 depth 1.7-1.6m	Sanger and Thomas 2010:62
St. Catherines	9LI231	Beta- 233134	3250±40	-24.4	3260±40	bulk soil	Feature 28 depth 1.6-1.5m	Sanger and Thomas 2010:62
St. Catherines	9LI231	Beta- 238322	3880±40	-25.7	3870±40	hickory nut	Feature 60 2.0-1.9m	Sanger and Thomas 2010:62
St. Catherines	9LI231	Beta- 238323	3480±40	-25.2	3480±40	bulk soil	W92 S2 2.3-2.2m	Sanger and Thomas 2010:62
St. Catherines	9LI231	Beta- 238327	3810±40	-24.2	3820±40	hickory nut	W92 S2 2.3-2.2m	Sanger and Thomas 2010:62
St. Catherines	9L1231	Beta- 238328	4110±40	-24.5	4120±40	burnt wood	Feature 76 1.9-1.8m	Sanger and Thomas 2010:62
St. Catherines	9LI231	Beta- 238329	3600±40	-25.3	3600±40	bulk soil	Feature 76 1.9-1.8m	Sanger and Thomas 2010:62
St. Catherines	9LI231	Beta- 238330	2920±40	-25.2	2920±40	bulk soil	Feature 88 1.8-1.7m	Sanger and Thomas 2010:62

Site Name	Site ID	Sample	Measured	C12-	Calibrate	Material	Provenience	References
		Number	Date (BP)	C13	d Date			
St. Catherines	9LI231	Beta-	$3830{\pm}40$	-25.4	3820±40	burnt	Feature 88 1.8-1.7m	Sanger and Thomas 2010:62
		238331				wood		
St. Catherines	9LI231	Beta- 238332	3900±40	-26	3880±40	burnt wood	Feature 73 1.8-1.7m	Sanger and Thomas 2010:62
Ct Cathoring	01 172 1	Doto	2500-10	7 / C	1111025	hull, soil	Eastura 72 1 8 1 7m	Sancer and Thomas 2010:62
St. Catherines	9L1231	Веtа- 238334	3390±40	-24.7	3390±40	bulk soll	Feature /3 1.8-1./m	Sanger and Thomas 2010:62
St. Catherines	9LI231	Beta- 238335	3630±40	-24.9	3630±40	bulk soil	Feature 82 1.8-1.7m	Sanger and Thomas 2010:62
St. Catherines	9LI231	Beta- 238336	3990±60	-0.9	4390±60	shell	N771 E819 2.39-2.3m	Sanger and Thomas 2010:62
St. Catherines	9LI231	Beta- 238337	3890±40	-26.8	3860±40	burnt wood	N771 E819 2.39-2.3m	Sanger and Thomas 2010:62
St. Catherines	9LI231	Beta- 239276	3930±40	-25	3930±40	charred material	Feature 82 NE Quad 1.9-1.8m	Sanger and Thomas 2010:62
West Ring	9GN76	UM-523	3605±110	0	4015±110	oyster	West Shell Ring Test 1, 12-20 cmbs (level 2), last occupation	Marrinan 1975:35; Russo 2006:12
West Ring	9GN76	UM-522	3860±90	0	4270±90	oyster	West Shell Ring Test 1, 45-55 cmbs (level 4), initial occupation	Marrinan 1975:35; Russo 2006:12

Appendix C: Pottery Counts of the Late Archaic Shell Rings

The following table for Appendix C includes all of the currently published pottery counts that have been reported from the shell rings of the Late Archaic period. The data below is listed alphabetically by site name. Each row of data represents the pottery counts for each individual ring. The information in the table is divided up into three main sections. The first four columns are fiber tempered counts with specifically identified pottery types in the first three columns, if they were typed in the literature from the rings, and the fourth column includes the total number of reported fiber tempered pottery from the sites. The second grouping of columns represents identified sand tempered pottery from the rings with the first two columns being specifically identified pottery types, and the third columns being the total number of reported sand tempered pottery from each site. The final column of this table is that of identified baked clay objects (BCO's).

This database will be continuously open for updates and will accept any submissions of data for review. After review, if the submission is complete the data will be added to the database and publish online. In order for new data to be published within this dataset please email mwalke63@vols.utk.edu or visit the website: http://www.martinpwalker.com/#!lasrr/cvqv and the following information must be provided, and will be reviewed prior to addition:

- Site name and site ID
- Tempering identifications with counts (specific pottery types are not required)
- Reference(s) for the reported data

The references for these data below were gathered from multiple sources and can be found in Appendix H.

Site Name	Site ID	Fiber Tempe Identificatio	ered: Specific ns	Ware	Total Fiber Tempered	Sand Tempered Ware Identifica	l: Specific tions	Total Sand Tempered	Baked Clay Objects
		Stallings	St. Simons	Orange	Collected*	Thom's Creek	Awendaw	Collected*	Collected
A. Busch Krick	9MC87				566			Uncounted	
Auld	38CH41					Uncounted		Uncounted	
Barbour Island	9MC320				37				
Barrows	38BU300					Uncounted		Uncounted	
Bonita Bay	8LL717								
Bony Hammock	9GN53				4				2
Bull Island	38BU475								
Buzzards Island	38CH23	Uncounted			Uncounted	153	Possible	153	
Cane Patch	9CH35		Possible		1000				2
Cannon's Point	9GN57		639		639				
Cedarland	22HC30								
Chester Field	38BU29				221	177		177	
Claiborne	22HC35				Uncounted				12000
Coosaw 1	38BU1866	169			169	3		3	
Coosaw 2	38BU1866	472			472	18		18	
Coosaw 3	38BU1866	54			54				
Coosaw 4	38BU1866								
Crow Island	38CH60								
Fig Island 1	38CH42	112			112	1182		1182	
Fig Island 2	38CH42	7			7	1746		1746	
Fig Island 3	38Ch42	7			7	325		325	
Guana	8SJ2554			405	3708				
Guerard Point	38BU21	99			99			56	
Hanckel	38CH7					48		48	
Hill Cottage	8SO2			37	37				
Hobcaw	38CH??								
Horr's Island	8CR209								
*Note: Not all repo	orts listed specific	c identification:	s of types, as s	uch the tota	als columns in this	table represent the	combined i	dentified and unide	ntified counts.

Table C.1: Pottery Counts of the Late Archaic Shell Rings

Table C.1: Continued									
Site Name	Site ID	Specific W Identificat	/are tions		Total Fiber Tempered	Specific Ware Identifications		Total Sand- Tempered	Baked Clay Objects
		Stallings	St. Simons	Orange	Collected*	Thom's Creek	Awendaw	Collected *	Collected
Horse Island	38CH14					85		85	
Joseph Reed	8MT13							19	
Lighthouse Point	38CH12					11192		11192	
McQueen	9Li1648		3600		3600				15
Meig's Pasture	80K102								Uncounted
Oemler	9CH14A				38		6	6	2
Ossabaw 77	9CH203		5		5				
Oxeye	8DU7478			Uncounted	Uncounted				122
Patent Point	38BU301					Uncounted		Uncounted	
Rollins	8DU7510			9522	9522				
Sapelo 1	9MC23		1453		1453				102
Sapelo 2	9MC23		366		366	2		2	
Sapelo 3	9MC23		663		663				
Sea Pines	38BU7				44	83		83	
Sewee Shell Ring	38Ch45					10156		10156	11
Skidaway	9CH77		173		173				
Skidaway 21	9CH75								
Skidaway 9, Large	9CH63								
Skidaway 9, Small	9CH63								
Skull Creek Large [†]	38BU8				129	854		854	1
Skull Creek Small [†]	38BU8								
St. Catherines	9LI231		7200		7200				3000
Stratton Place	38CH24					1506	15	1521	2
West Ring	9GN76		92		92				
* Note: Not all reporte	listed specifi	n idantifingt	ione of times	ac cuch the tot	hale columne in this	table represent the	- hombinod i	dantified and unid	antified counter

* Note: Not all reports listed specific identifications of types, as such the totals columns in this table represent the combined identified and unidentified counts. * The Skull Creek rings were excavated as a singular figure eight construction, as such, the reports combined many of the artifact counts.

Appendix D: Lithic Counts of the Late Archaic Shell Rings (adapted from Russo 2006:38)

The following table for Appendix D is adapted from Russo 2006:38 but has been updated to include newly published data. The data below is listed alphabetically by site name. Each row of data represents the lithic material counts for each individual ring. The information in the table is divided up such that flake counts, and projectile point counts are each listed in their own columns, with all other lithic items reported from the rings being listed in column three. This representation of the data is only for this appendix, the spreadsheet that is available for download from the database lists each individually identified tool type within its own column of data.

This database will be continuously open for updates and will accept any submissions of data for review. After review, if the submission is complete the data will be added to the database and publish online. In order for new data to be published within this dataset please email mwalke63@vols.utk.edu or visit the website: http://www.martinpwalker.com/#!lasrr/cvqv and the following information must be provided, and will be reviewed prior to addition:

- Site name and site ID
- Lithic types with counts
- Reference(s) for the reported data

The references for these data below were gathered from multiple sources and can be found in Appendix H.

Site Name	Site ID	Flakes	Projectile Points	Other Lithics
A. Busch Krick	9MC87	1		
Auld	38CH41			
Barbour Island	9MC320			
Barrows	38BU300			
Bonita Bay	8LL717			Limestone (1)
Bony Hammock	9GN53			
Buzzards Island	38CH23			
Cannon's Point	9GN57	Uncounted	2	Groundstone (1), Quartzite Pebbles (596), Quartzite Cobble (1), Chert (15)
Cedarland	22HC30	Uncounted	Uncounted	Sandstone Slabs and Bannerstones (Uncounted)
Chester Field	38BU29	Uncounted	2 to 5	Hammerstone (1)
Claiborne	22HC35	Uncounted	Uncounted	Steatite (Uncounted)
Coosaw 1	38BU1866			Biface Fragment (1)
Coosaw 2	38BU1866			Pin fragment (1)
Coosaw 3	38BU1866	1		
Coosaw 4	38BU1866			
Crow Island	38CH60			
Fig Island 1	38CH42	1		
Fig Island 2	38CH42			Biface Fragment (1)
Fig Island 3	38Ch42			General Debitage
Guana	8SJ2554		2	Steatite (9)
Guerard Point	38BU21	2		Engraver (1)
Hanckel	38CH7			
Hill Cottage	8SO2			Limestone Metate (1)
Hobcaw	38CHXX			
Horr's Island	8CR209	19	1	Limestone (102), Groundstone Balls (4)
Horse Island	38CH14			
Joseph Reed	8MT13	4		Limestone (313), Sandstone (3)
Lighthouse Point	38CH12		10	Steatite (3), "Other Lithics" (28)
McQueen	9Li1648	2104		
Meig's Pasture	80K102			Sandstsone Hones (2)
Oemler	9CH14A			
Ossabaw 77	9CH203			
Oxeye	8DU7478	2		Ochre (1)
Patent Point	38BU301			Pieces of Worked Stone (2)
Rollins	8DU7510	10		Sandstone (13), Hammerstone (1)
Sapelo 1	9MC23			Ball (1), Flint (1), Bannerstone (1)

Table D.1: Lithic Counts of the Late Archaic Shell Rings

Table D.1: Continued	1			
Site Name	Site ID	Flakes	Projectile Points	Other Lithics
Sapelo 2	9MC23			
Sapelo 3	9MC23	81	1	
Sea Pines	38BU7			
Sewee Shell Ring	38Ch45	1	2	Bead (1)
Skidaway	9CH77			
Skidaway 21	9CH75			
Skidaway 9, Large	9CH63			
Skidaway 9, Small	9CH63			
Skull Creek Large [†]	38BU8		3	Grooved Abraders (Uncounted)
Skull Creek Small [†]	38BU8			
St. Catherines	9LI231		18	Drill (1), Individual Uncategorized Lithic Pieces (5000+)
Stratton Place	38CH24	1	1	Hammerstones (7), Pendant (1), Heating Stones (8)
West Ring	9GN76	56		Quartzite Pebbles (47), Pieces of Chert (7)

[†] The Skull Creek rings were excavated as a singular figure eight construction, as such, the reports combined many of the artifact counts.

Appendix E: Shape Descriptions and Major Dimensions of the Late Archaic Shell Rings

The following table for Appendix E is adapted from Russo 2006:25-26 but has been updated to include newly published data. The data below is listed alphabetically by site name. Each row of data represents published maximum dimensions for each individual ring. These data are only the maximum dimensions. Shell rings are not uniform in shape or height and contain a number of different diameter and height measurements that can vary depending upon location of measurements. For visual representations of the rings please visit the online database and download the site maps and imagery files that are available for each ring.

This database will be continuously open for updates and will accept any submissions of data for review. After review, if the submission is complete the data will be added to the database and publish online. In order for new data to be published within this dataset please email mwalke63@vols.utk.edu or visit the website: http://www.martinpwalker.com/#!lasrr/cvqv and the following information must be provided, and will be reviewed prior to addition:

- Site name and site ID
- Shell ring dimensions
- Reference(s) for the reported data

The references for these data below were gathered from multiple sources and can be found in Appendix H.

Site Name	Site ID	Shape Description	Minimum Diameter Across (m)	Maximum Diameter Across (m)	Maximum Shell Height (m)
A. Busch Krick	9MC87	Horseshoe Shaped (C or U)	18	40	2.4
Auld	38CH41	Closed Circle	50	56	1.8
Barbour Island	9MC320	Arc Shaped (C or U)	25	65	4
Barrows	38BU300	C-shaped	40	60	2
Bonita Bay	8LL717	U-shaped	140	230	1.1
Bony Hammock	9GN53	C-shaped		30	2.1
Bull Island	38BU475	Closed Circle		91	
Buzzards Island	38CH23	Closed Oval		62	0.9
Cane Patch	9CH35		61	76	3.5
Cannon's Point	9GN57	C-shaped	46	79	1.8
Cedarland	22HC30	C-shaped	165	165	4
Chester Field	38BU29	C-shaped	27	54	1.8
Claiborne	22HC35	C-shaped	175	200	2
Coosaw 1	38BU1866	C attached to Closed Circle (Possible Figure 8)	55	60	1.73
Coosaw 2	38BU1866	Closed Circle attached to C (Possible Figure 8)	55	60	1.73
Coosaw 3	38BU1866	Closed Circle	55	60	0.6
Coosaw 4	38BU1866	Closed Circle			
Crow Island	38CH60	C-shaped		60	
Fig Island 1	38CH42	Closed Circle (with Mound and Attached Ringlets)	111	157	5.5
Fig Island 2	38CH42	Closed Circle	77	82	2.1
Fig Island 3	38Ch42	C-shaped	44	49	1.9
Guana	8SJ2554	U-shaped	150	170	1.3
Guerard Point	38BU21	Closed Circle		40	0.7
Hanckel	38CH7	C-shaped		62	2.4
Hill Cottage	8SO2	U-shaped	120	140	3.7
Hobcaw	38CH??				
Horr's Island	8CR209	U-shaped (with Mounds and Ramps)	100	160	3.5
Horse Island	38CH14	Closed Circle		61	3
Joseph Reed	8MT13	U or C-shaped	150	250	1.7
Lighthouse Point	38CH12	Closed Circle	76	76	3
McQueen	9Li1648	Closed Circle		71	0.5
Meig's Pasture	80K102	C-shaped	66	77	0.9
Oemler	9CH14A	Closed Circle		23	1.5
Ossabaw 77	9CH203	C-shaped		45	0.9
Oxeye	8DU7478	Closed Circle	130	160	3

Table E.1 Shape Descriptions and Major Dimensions of the Late Archaic Shell Rings

Site Name	Site ID	Shape Description	Minimum Diameter Across (m)	Maximum Diameter Across (m)	Maximum Shell Height (m)
Patent Point	38BU301	С	45	60	1
Rollins	8DU7510	C (with Attached Ringlets)	190	235	3.5
Sapelo 1	9MC23	Closed Circle	75	80	2.7
Sapelo 2	9MC23	Closed Circle	60	75	0.5
Sapelo 3	9MC23	Oval (Closed Circle)	40	55	0.9
Sea Pines	38BU7	Closed Circle	55	60	1
Sewee Shell Ring	38Ch45	Closed Circle	61	75	3.2
Skidaway	9CH77	C-shaped	58	77	2.3
Skidaway 21	9CH75				
Skidaway 9, Large	9CH63			61	1.5
Skidaway 9, Small	9CH63			30	1.5
Skull Creek Large	38BU8	Figure 8 (Conjoined Closed Circles)		55	2.1
Skull Creek Small	38BU8	Figure 8 (Conjoined Closed Circles)		43	2.1
St. Catherines	9LI231	Closed Circle		70	1
Stratton Place	38CH24	C-shaped	40	50	0.6
West Ring	9GN76	U-shaped	43	58	0.65

Table E.1: Continued

The following table for Appendix F were calculated using the eccentricity equations described in Chapter 4. The data below is listed alphabetically by site name. Each row of data represents the calculated eccentricity for each individual ring. Values closer to 0 represent rings that re more circular in shape and values close to 1 represent rings that are more oval in shape.

Table F.1: Calculated shell ring eccentricities

Shell Ring Name	Calculated Eccentritcy	Shell R Name	ling	Calculated Eccentritcy
A. Busch Krick	0.6042	Horr's Is	sland	0.8577
Auld	0.4503	Horse Is	sland	0.4646
Barbour Island	0.9231	Joseph l	Reed	0.7367
Barrows	0.6036	Lightho Point	use	0.1617
Bonita Bay	0.8584	McQuee	en	0.1672
Buzzards Island	0.5810	Meig's I	Pasture	0.6887
Cane Patch	0.2074	Oxeye		0.3967
Cannon's Point	0.7437	Patent P	oint	0.2960
Cedarland	0.1099	Rollins		0.5739
Chester Field	0.4706	Sapelo	l	0.2609
Claiborne	0.4841	Sapelo 2	2	0.6000
Coosaw 1	0.3212	Sapelo 3	3	0.6863
Coosaw 2	0.4511	Sea Pine	es	0.3135
Coosaw 3	0.2952	Sewee N	Nound	0.5818
Fig Island 1	0.5419	Skidawa	ay	0.6577
Fig Island 2	0.2740	Skull Ci Large	reek	0.3461
Fig Island 3	0.2084	Skull Ci Small	reek	0.5868
Guana	0.7449	St. Cath	erines	0.0844
Hanckel	0.5414	Stratton	Place	0.5313
Hill Cottage	0.4789	West Ri	ng	0.8032

Table G.1: Radic	carbon Date	s from the Horr	's Island Mour	nd Compl	ex, Florida			
Site Name	Site ID	Sample Number	Measured Date (BP)	C12- C13	Calibrated Date (BP)	Material	Provenience	References
Horr's Island, Mound A	8CR208	Beta 35344	3420±100	-13	3620	human	Mound A, Z1, FS 464	Russo 1991:423-424; Russo 1994:90; Russo 2006:13-14
Horr's Island, Mound A	8CR208	Beta 35345	4760±170	-25	4760	charcoal	Mound A, Z5, FS 501	Russo 1991:423-424; Russo 1994:90; Russo 2006:13-14
Horr's Island, Mound A	8CR208	Beta 35346	4270±60	-25	4270	charcoal	Mound A, Z10, FS 507	Russo 1991:423-424; Russo 1994:90; Russo 2006:13-14
Horr's Island, Mound A	8CR208	Beta 36466	4140±60	-25	4140	charcoal	Mound A, Fire Pit, FS 243	Russo 1991:423-424; Russo 1994:90; Russo 2006:13-14
Horr's Island, Mound A	8CR208	Beta 36467	4260±80	-25	4260	charcoal	Mound A, Z3, FS 462	Russo 1991:423-424; Russo 1994:90; Russo 2006:13-14
Horr's Island, Mound A	8CR208	UM 1923	4335±70	0	4735	cockle	Mound A, Zone 1, Stratum A	Russo 1991:423-424; Russo 1994:90; Russo 2006:13-14
Horr's Island, Mound A	8CR208	UM 1924	402 <i>5</i> ±75	0	4425	oyster	Mound A, Zone 2, Stratum B	Russo 1991:423-424; Russo 1994:90; Russo 2006:13-14
Horr's Island, Mound A	8CR208	UM 1925	4055±75	0	4455	oyster	Mound A, Zone 4, Stratum A	Russo 1991:423-424; Russo 1994:90; Russo 2006:13-14
Horr's Island, Mound B	8CR206	Beta 35347	4030±230	-13	4230	human	Mound B, burial, FS 533	Russo 1991:423-424; Russo 1994:90; Russo 2006:13-14
Horr's Island, Mound B	8CR206	Beta 40276	6070±90	-25	6070	charcoal	Mound B, Stratum G, FS 369	Russo 1991:423-424; Russo 1994:90; Russo 2006:13-14
Horr's Island, Mound B	8CR206	UM 1919	4215±75	0	4615	quahog	Mound B, Stratum C	Russo 1991:423-424; Russo 1994:90; Russo 2006:13-14
Horr's Island, Mound B	8CR206	UM 1920	6330±85	0	6730	oyster	Mound B, Stratum C	Russo 1991:423-424; Russo 1994:90; Russo 2006:13-14
Horr's Island, Mound B	8CR206	UM 1921	4245±85	0	4645	oyster	Mound B, Stratum A	Russo 1991:423-424; Russo 1994:90; Russo 2006:13-14
Horr's Island, Mound C	8CR207	UM 1918	4460±105	0	4860	whelk	Mound C, Stratum A	Russo 1991:423-424; Russo 1994:90; Russo 2006:13-14
Horr's Island, Mound C	8CR207	UM 1922	4470±75	0	4870	conch	Mound C, Stratum A	Russo 1991:423-424; Russo 1994:90; Russo 2006:13-14
Horr's Island, Mound D	8CR211	Beta 35348	4450±190	-25	4450	charcoal	Mound D, submound, FS 587	Russo 1991:423-424; Russo 1994:90; Russo 2006:13-14

Appendix G: Radiocarbon Dates from the Horr's Island Mound Complex, Florida

117

Appendix H: References for individual shell rings

The following table for Appendix H includes the references in which material culture counts and shell ring dimensions can be found, for each shell ring. This listing does not represent the full listing of shell ring literature, simply the location of the data that was collected for the tables within this thesis.

Site Name	Site ID	References
A. Busch Krick	9MC87	Crusoe and DePratter 1976; Russo 2006
Auld	38CH41	Dorroh 1971; Hemmings 1970d; Judge and Smith 1991; Russo 2006
Barbour Island	9MC320	Georgia Site File; Russo 2006
Barrows	38BU300	Russo 2006; Saunders et al. 2006
Bonita Bay	8LL717	Dickel 1992; Russo 2004, 2006
Bony Hammock	9GN53	DePratter 1976; Russo 2006
Bull Island	38BU475	Bragg 1925; Hemmings 1970a; Russo 2006
Buzzards Island	38CH23	Judge and Smith 1991; Russo 2006
Cane Patch	9CH35	DePratter 1974, 1976; Russo 2006
Cannon's Point	9GN57	DePratter 1976; Marrinan 1975; Russo 2006
Cedarland	22HC30	Gagliano and Webb 1970; Russo 2006
Chester Field	38BU29	Flannery 1943; Ritter 1933; Russo 2006
Claiborne	22HC35	Bruseth 1991; Russo 2006
Coosaw 1	38BU1866	Heide and Russo 2003; Russo 2006
Coosaw 2	38BU1866	Heide and Russo 2003; Russo 2006
Coosaw 3	38BU1866	Heide and Russo 2003; Russo 2006
Coosaw 4	38BU1866	Heide and Russo 2003; Russo 2006
Crow Island	38CH60	Russo 2006; Trinkley 1980
Fig Island 1	38CH42	Heide 2002; Russo 2002, 2006; Saunders and Russo 2002
Fig Island 2	38CH42	Heide 2002; Hemmings 1970e, f; Russo 2002, 2006; Saunders and Russo 2002
Fig Island 3	38Ch42	Heide 2002; Hemmings 1970e; Russo 2002, 2006
Guana	8SJ2554	Russo 2004, 2006; Russo et al. 2003; Saunders and Rolland 2006
Guerard Point	38BU21	Moore 1898; Russo 2006
Hanckel	38CH7	Hemmings 1989; Russo 2006
Hill Cottage	8SO2	Bullen and Bullen 1976; Russo 2006; Sarney 1994

Table H.1: Listing of specific references for individual shell rings

Table H.1: continued

Site Name	Site ID	References
Hobcaw	38CH?	Gregorie 1925; Russo 2006
Horr's Island	8CR209	McMichael 1982; Russo 1991, 2004, 2006
Horse Island	38CH14	Anonymous 1969; Hemmings 1989; Russo 2006; Trinkley 1976
Joseph Reed	8MT13	Fryman et al. 1980; Russo 2004, 2006; Russo and Heide 2000, 2002, 2004
Lighthouse Point	38CH12	Drayton 1802; Russo 2006; Trinkley 1980, 1985
McQueen	9Li1648	Sanger 2015; Sanger and Thomas 2010
Meig's Pasture	80K102	Curren et al. 1987; Russo 2006
Oemler	9CH14A	DePratter 1991; Russo 2006; Waring 1968
Ossabaw 77	9CH203	DePratter 1974; Russo 2006
Oxeye	8DU7478	Russo 2004, 2006; Russo and Saunders 1999; Russo et al. 1992
Patent Point	38BU301	Russo 2006; Saunders et al. 2006
Rollins	8DU7510	Russo 2006; Russo and Saunders 1999; Russo et al. 1992; Saunders 2004
Sapelo 1	9MC23	McKinley 1873; Moore 1897; Russo 2006; Simpkins 1975; Thompson 2006; Waring and Larson 1968
Sapelo 2	9MC23	McKinley 1873; Russo 2006; Simpkins 1975; Thompson 2006; Waring and Larson 1968
Sapelo 3	9MC23	McKinley 1873; Russo 2006; Thompson 2006; Waring and Larson 1968
Sea Pines	38BU7	Calmes 1967; Russo 2006; Trinkley 1980
Sewee Shell Ring	38Ch45	Hemmings 1970g; Russo 2006; Russo and Heide 2003
Skidaway	9CH77	DePratter 1975; Howard et al. 1980; Russo 2006
Skidaway 21	9CH75	Beasley 1970; Russo 2006
Skidaway 9, Large	9CH63	Beasley 1970; Russo 2006
Skidaway 9, Small	9CH63	Beasley 1970; Russo 2006
Skull Creek Large [†]	38BU8	Calmes 1967; Russo 2006
Skull Creek Small [†]	38BU8	Calmes 1967; Russo 2006
St. Catherines	9LI231	Russo 2006 (as Long Field Crescent); Sanger 2015; Sanger and Thomas 2010
Stratton Place	38CH24	Lawrence 1991b; Russo 2006; Trinkley 1980, 1985
West	9GN76	DePratter 1976; Marrinan 1975; Russo 2006

Martin Peter Walker was born May 15, 1983 in Brooklyn, New York. He was raised in Potsdam, New York and then relocated back to New York City in 1992, to Bronx, New York and graduated from the Bronx High School of Science in 2001. He next graduate with a Bachelor's of Science Degree in Mechanical Engineering from Manhattan College. After working for two years as an engineer he returned to school and graduated with a Bachelor's of Arts Degree in Anthropology from Herbert H. Lehman College, City University of New York. He then spent two years working with the Nels Nelson North American Archaeology Laboratory at the American Museum of Natural History, New York. In the summer of 2010, he moved to Knoxville, Tennessee and began graduate school at the University of Tennessee, Knoxville (UTK) and in the spring of 2016 was awarded his Master's of Arts Degree in Anthropology. He is a member of the Society for American Archaeology, Southeastern Archaeological Conference, Archaeological Institute of America, Tennessee Council for Professional Archaeology, the Order of the Engineer, UTK Graduate Student Senate, and UTK Anthropology Graduate Student Association.